Huntingtin toxicity is ameliorated by BAG1 through modulation of its aggregation, degradation and subcellular distribution

PhD Thesis

in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree "Doctor of Philosophy (PhD)/Dr. rer. nat." in the Neuroscience Program at the Georg August University Göttingen, Faculty of Biology

submitted by

Kamila Sroka

born in

Lublin, Poland

March 2008

Declaration

This thesis has been written independently and with no other sources and aids than quoted.

Kamila Sroka Göttingen, March 2008 I would like to acknowledge all the people who helped me during my work on this thesis, especially

Dr. Pawel Kermer, for excellent supervision, help and unwavering optimism Prof. Mathias Bähr, for the opportunity to work in his laboratory, support, and following my progress

Prof. Klaus-Armin Nave and Prof. Fred Wouters, who served on my thesis committee, for the feedback on my project

NEUREST, for financing my fellowship and giving me the opportunity to participate in numerous conferences and workshops

CMPB, which financially supported a substantial part of my research

Dr. Simone Cardoso de Oliveira, Sandra Drube and Prof. Michael Hörner, the coordinators of the Neuroscience program, who are doing a great job supporting the students of the program

Dr. Aaron Voigt from Prof. Jörg Schulz laboratory, who introduced me to Drosophila work and was critical for the success of these experiments

Petranka Krumova, who did the ubiquitination assays

Beate Veith and Sandra Gerke, for their technical support

All the people in the lab, AG Kermer in particular, for creating a friendly atmosphere; special thanks to Sebastian Deeg, for companionship in and outside of the lab

All my friends from Krakow and Göttingen, especially Melania, Ula and Viktorija, who can always make me laugh and were there for me when I needed them Gaston, for his love and support

My family, my parents in particular, for their continuous love, support and encouragement.

Contents

1. Introduction	7
1.1 Huntington's disease	7
1.2. Wild type huntingtin function	8
1.3. Mutant huntingtin	
1.3.1 Cleavage and nuclear translocation	
1.3.2. Disruption of transcription	13
1.3.3. Aggregation	13
1.3.4. The ubiquitin-proteasome pathway	15
1.3.5. Autophagy	17
1.3.6. Mitochondrial dysfunction	19
1.3.7. Signaling pathways implicated in HD	
1.4. Chaperone-mediated neuroprotection	21
1.4.1. Hsp70 and Hsp40	22
1.4.2. Other chaperones	22
1.4.3. The relevance of molecular chaperones	
in neurodegeneration	23
1.5. BAG1	
2. Aims of the study	
3. Materials and Methods	
3.1 Chemicals	
3.2. Solutions and buffers	
3.3. DNA constructs	
3.4. Cloning	
3.4.1. Primers	35

3.4.2. PCR-amplification	6
3.4.3. DNA restriction and purification3	57
3.4.4. DNA ligation and transformation in <i>E. coli</i>	7
3.4.5. PCR mutagenesis	8
3.5. Preparation of competent cells for transformation	8
3.6. RT-PCR	9
3.7. Cell culture	9
3.8. Stable transfections4	0
3.9. Transient transfections4	0
3.9.1. Lipofectamine 20004	0.
3.9.2. Calcium phosphate transfections4	.1
3.10. Cell death experiments4	.1
3.11. Protein extracts preparation4	.1
3.12. Filter retardation assay4	.1
3.13. Co-immunoprecipitation4	2
3.14. Nickel beads pull-down4	2
3.15. Methanol/chloroform precipitation4	.3
3.16. SDS-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS- PAGE)4	.3
3.17. Immunoblotting4	.3
3.18. Densitometry analysis4	4
3.19. Immunocytochemistry4	4
3.20. Antibodies	5
3.21. <i>D. melanogaster</i> techniques4	-5
3.21.1. <i>Drosophila</i> Strains4	.5
3.21.2. Generation of UAS-BAG1 flies4	6
3.21.3. Recombination of BAG1 flies with elav-GAL4 flies4	-6

3.21.4. Fly genotyping	46
3.21.5. Preparation of protein extracts from fly heads	47
3.21.6. Photoreceptor cell loss analysis	47
3.22. Statistical analysis	48
4. Results	49
4.1. BAG1 modulates subcellular localization of mutant huntingtin	49
4.2. Reduction of mutant huntingtin aggregation by BAG1	55
4.3. Increased turn-over of mutant huntingtin in the presence of BAG1	58
4.4. BAG1 is protective in a cell culture model of HD	60
4.5. BAG1 is protective in a <i>D. melanogaster</i> model of HD	61
5. Discussion	66
5.1. Nuclear localization of mutant huntingtin	66
5.2. Mutant huntingtin aggregation is decreased in the presence of	
BAG1	69
5.3. BAG1 stimulates mutant huntingtin degradation	70
5.4. BAG1 protects from mutant huntingtin toxicity in vitro and	
in vivo	71
5.5. Potential therapeutic implications	72
6. Summary	75
7. Abbreviations	76
8. References	79
9. Curriculum Vitae	96
10. Publications	99

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 Huntington's disease

Huntington's disease (HD) is a dominantly inherited neurological disorder in which involuntary movements are accompanied by personality changes and dementia. It bears the name of the American physician George Huntington who first described it in 1872 (Huntington, 1872). The disease is often referred to as Huntington's chorea, from the Greek word *choreia* which means *dance*, due to dance-like uncontrollable movements that are its most remarkable symptoms. It manifests itself usually in midlife and progresses with choreiform movements, psychiatric dysfunction, dementia and weight loss (Folstein et al., 1986; Craufurd et al., 2001). There is no casual treatment available, and patients die about 10 to 20 years after disease onset. Brain autopsy reveals cell loss in the striatum, in particular of the medium spiny GABAergic neurons (Reiner et al., 1988), although other brain regions like cortex and hypothalamus are affected as well (Vonsattel et al., 1985; Petersen et al., 2005). Loss of neurons in the striatum explains the motor component of HD since it is a part of the basal ganglia circuit that regulates cortically initiated voluntary movements. Psychiatric and cognitive impairment most likely results from the dysfunction and loss of cortical neurons, as weight loss could be explained by degeneration of orexin neurons in the hypothalamus (Petersen and Bjorkqvist, 2006) and high metabolic turnover. In more advanced stages of HD, neuronal cell death is observed in other brain regions such as globus pallidus, subthalamic nuclei, substantia nigra, cerebellum and thalamus. At that stage the symptoms often change dramatically as patients can become rigid and akinetic.

1.2. Wild type huntingtin function

It took nearly ten years until the Huntington's Disease Collaborative Research Group was able to pinpoint the mutation responsible for HD. It lies in the IT15 (interesting transcript 15) gene which contains 67 exons, is localized on chromosome 4p16.3 and codes for a 350 kDa protein called huntingtin. The mutation consists of an expansion of a CAG tract within exon 1 of the gene that encodes a polyglutamine stretch in the N-terminus of huntingtin (Huntington's Disease Collaborative Research Group, 1993). Wild type human huntingtin contains 6 to 35 glutamines in the stretch (Kremer et al., 1994). When the number is 36 or greater, it is believed to result in a toxic gain of function of the protein leading to disease. Interestingly, the length of the polyglutamine expansion is inversely proportional to the age of onset of HD (Andrew et al., 1993; Snell et al., 1993). It is worth noting that expanded CAG repeats are also found in at least eight other neurodegenerative diseases such as spinocerebellar ataxias 1, 2, 3, 6, 7 and 17, spinobulbar muscular atrophy and dentatorubral pallidoluysian atrophy, classified together as polyglutamine diseases. Although they affect different brain regions, and the disease-specific mutation is found in functionally and structurally unrelated proteins, some features of the pathological mechanism seem to be common (Margolis and Ross, 2001).

It is not known what the function of the polyglutamine stretch in huntingtin is. Evolutionary it first appeared in fishes that have 4 glutamines and was maintained in huntingtin homologues of all vertebrates suggesting that it may confer some advantageous properties to the protein (Baxendale et al., 1995; Cattaneo et al., 2005). Polyglutamine-rich domains are often found in transcription factors (for example TFIID, Sp1, homeobox protein of Drosophila), and it is speculated that they can act as "polar zippers", promoting interactions between proteins and enhancing transcription (Perutz et al., 1994).



Fig. 1.1 A schematic illustration of huntingtin amino acid sequence.

At the N-terminus, starting at amino acid 18, is the polyglutamine (Q)n tract, which is 6-35 glutamines long in wild type protein and expanded above 36 repeats in the mutant form. The polyQ region is followed by a polyproline-rich region (P)n, which probably helps to keep the protein soluble (Steffan et al., 2004). Downstream are the so-called HEAT (Huntingtin, Elongation factor 3, protein phosphatase 2A, TOR1) repeats (red squares), which are tandemly repeated, 37-47 amino acid long domains that form rod-like helical structures which are involved in protein-protein interactions (Andrade and Bork, 1995). A nuclear export signal (NES) is localized in the C-terminus of the protein (Xia et al., 2003). Green arrows indicate the caspase cleavage sites and their amino acid positions, and blue arrowheads the calpain cleavage sites and their amino acid positions. Green and orange arrowheads point to the approximate amino acid regions for protease cleavage. The red circle at the N-terminus indicates the ubiquitin and SUMO modification site. The blue circles show the phosphorylation sites (serine 421 and serine 434). The glutamic acid (Glu)-, serine (Ser)- and proline (Pro)-rich regions are indicated. Modified from Cattaneo et al., 2005.

As far as the function of huntingtin as a whole is concerned, it remains unresolved as well. Huntingtin is a large protein of 350 kDa with no homology to other proteins (Fig. 1.1). It is completely soluble and was found in many subcellular compartments what further complicates the search for its function. It is mainly distributed diffusely throughout the cytosol but was also detected in neurites, synapses as well as the nucleus and associated with different cellular structures like the ER, Golgi, microtubules, clathrin-coated vesicles, synaptic vesicles, plasma membrane and mitochondria (DiFiglia et al., 1995; Gutekunst et al., 1995; Trottier et al., 1995; De Rooij et al., 1996; Kegel et al., 2002; Kegel et al., 2005). Huntingtin is expressed ubiquitously with the highest levels in the CNS and testes (Li et al., 1993; Sharp et al., 1995). Intriguingly, it appears to have a dual function, one during embryonic development and another one postnatally (Reiner et al., 2003). This view is based on studies on huntingtin knock-out mice that are embryonically lethal at day 7.5 due to gastrulation defects (Nasir et al., 1995). Huntingtin is also crucial for the CNS formation as well as establishment and maintenance of neuronal identity, particularly in the cortex and striatum (White et al., 1997; Metzler et al., 1999; Metzler et al., 2000; Reiner et al., 2001). Interestingly, embryonic lethality can be completely rescued by over-expression of the mutant form of the protein, meaning that the mutation becomes pathogenic only in the adulthood (Leavitt et al., 2001; Van Raamsdonk et al., 2005). On the other hand, conditional knock-out of the gene in the forebrain and testes of adult mice leads to neurodegeneration and sterility (Dragatsis et al., 2000). These two different (and potentially multiple) huntingtin functions could be explained by different interaction partners. In screens, huntingtin was found to associate with proteins involved in clathrin-mediated endocytosis, apoptosis, vesicle transport, cell signaling, morphogenesis and transcriptional regulation, suggesting its importance for these processes (Borrell-Pages et al., 2006).

Indeed, huntingtin was found to be antiapoptotic in the nervous system. In particular, it is protective against ischemia (Zhang et al., 2003), excitotoxic insult (Leavitt et al., 2006) and mutant huntingtin toxicity *in vivo* (Leavitt et al., 2001). Studies of the underlying mechanisms showed that huntingtin inhibits the processing of caspase 9 (Rigamonti et al., 2001) and prevents the formation of the proapoptotic complex between HIP1 and HIPPI (Gervais et al., 2002).

Huntingtin stimulates transcription of neuronal genes by sequestering RE1silencing transcription factor (REST, also known as neuronal restrictive silencing factor, NRSF) (Zuccato et al., 2007). The most studied example of such a gene is *Bdnf* (brain derived neurotrophic factor), coding for a neurotrophin produced in the cortex and retrogradely transported to the striatum, serving as a survival cue for striatal neurons and as a signal to maintain cortico-striatal synapses (Zuccato et al., 2001). Huntingtin has also been implicated in fast axonal transport (Szebenyi et al., 2003) and transport of BDNF (Gauthier et al., 2004). There are also reports that show a relevance of huntingtin at the synapse where it interacts with PSD-95, affecting the function of NMDA receptors (Sun et al., 2001).

1.3. Mutant huntingtin

In contrast to wild type huntingtin, much more effort was put into studies of the mutant form of huntingtin, focusing mainly on the N-terminal part of the protein that contains the polyglutamine stretch and is sufficient to cause neurodegeneration *in vivo* (Mangiarini et al., 1996). Besides the size of fulllength huntingtin, the reason why most laboratories use only the aminoterminal part of the protein is that truncated N-terminal fragments were found to accumulate and to be toxic in HD models (Mende-Mueller et al., 2001). Years of research showed that the mutation has a deleterious effect on a plethora of cellular processes which will be discussed below (Fig. 1.2).

1.3.1 Cleavage and nuclear translocation

The N-terminal part of huntingtin contains recognition sites for calpain and caspases 1, 3, 6, 7, and 8 (Mende-Mueller et al., 2001; Lunkes et al., 2002; Gafni et al., 2004; Hermel et al., 2004) (Fig. 1.1). Both wild type and mutant huntingtin are processed by those proteases although the latter to a greater extent what is believed leads to toxicity. It was recently discovered that not all cleavage products share identical properties. The fragment generated by caspase 6 cleavage leads to neurodegeneration, whereas the one generated by caspase 3 does not (Graham et al., 2006). The exact sequence and relevance of the various cleavage events is not clear yet; nonetheless, it is well established that the truncated fragment translocates to the nucleus. This seems to constitute the key event in HD pathophysiology (Saudou et al., 1998; Peters et al., 1999) since inhibition of nuclear translocation prevents striatal cell death.





The N-terminal part of huntingtin, which contains the polyQ expansion, is cleaved off by proteases. The fragment translocates to the nucleus, where it disrupts transcription and induces cell death. Furthermore, the fragments aggregate forming inclusion bodies in the cytosol and in the nucleus. The inclusions contain ubiquitin, proteasomal components and chaperones. Mutant huntingtin leads to an impairment of the ubiquitin-proteasome system. It deregulates mitochondrial function and calcium homeostasis. It alters vesicular transport and recycling, while inclusions in neurites may physically block transport. Defect in BDNF transport increases vulnerability of striatal neurons to cell death. Htt, Huntingtin; HIPs, huntingtin-interacting proteins; HAPs, huntingtin-associated proteins. From Borrell-Pades et al., 2006.

1.3.2. Disruption of transcription

The mechanism of action of the toxic fragment in the nucleus probably involves its interactions with transcription factors, many of which also have polyglutamine domains (Gerber et al., 1994). Mutant huntingtin binds to p53, CREB-binding protein, TBP and Sp1/TAFII130 transcription factors (Nucifora et al., 2001; Wyttenbach et al., 2001; Dunah et al., 2002; Schaffar et al., 2004; Bae et al., 2005; Zhai et al., 2005). Microarray experiments showed aberrant transcription of many genes, including those coding for neurotransmitter receptors and their corresponding second messenger system components (Luthi-Carter et al., 2006). Moreover, mutant huntingtin no longer binds to REST/NRSF what leads to silencing of several neuronal genes, including the *Bdnf* gene (Zuccato et al., 2003). This could contribute to selective neuronal vulnerability in HD as striatal neurons strongly depend on cortical BDNF signals (Altar et al., 1997; Baquet et al., 2004).

1.3.3. Aggregation

Mutant huntingtin, many other mutant proteins implicated as in neurodegeneration, forms inclusion bodies in the cytosol and in the nucleus (called neuronal intranuclear inclusions, NIIs) composed of N-terminal fragments of the protein (DiFiglia et al., 1997; Becher et al., 1998). These inclusions (also referred to as aggregates) were characterized to have an ordered fibrillar amyloid-like structure. Polyglutamine chains form β-hairpin structures (also called "polar zippers") held together by hydrogen bonds between the main-chain and side-chain amides (Perutz et al., 1994). The relationship between inclusion bodies and HD pathophysiology is a matter of debate. It is speculated that they might interfere with normal cell function by sequestering components of the chaperone system, the ubiquitin-proteasome system (UPS) and transcription factors (McCampbell et al., 2000; Jana et al.,

2001; Nucifora et al., 2001; Hansson et al., 2003; Hay et al., 2004). Due to their large size, aggregates may also block axonal transport (Gunawardena et al., 2003), and they are found in dystrophic neurites in HD brains (DiFiglia et al., 1997; Maat-Schieman et al., 1999). On the other hand, their occurrence does not correlate with cell death (Saudou et al., 1998; Kim et al., 1999; Slow et al., 2005), and it was recently shown that cells which develop aggregates have in fact higher chances of survival (Arrasate et al., 2004). The inclusions might then have a beneficial function because they can sequester soluble mono- or oligomeric toxic fragments of mutant huntingtin and prevent them from interacting with other proteins like transcription factors. Nevertheless, the inclusions are predominantly seen in those neurons that are most affected by the disease (DiFiglia et al., 1997). In addition, the most popular mouse model of HD, the R6/2 mouse line, exhibits high amounts of huntingtin aggregation and neuronal dysfunction closely resembling HD but almost no striatal cell death (Mangiarini et al., 1996; Li et al., 2005). Importantly, the formation of inclusion bodies precedes the onset of symptoms in this model (Davies et al., 1997). This points out to the possibility that although aggregates are not directly causing cell death they do contribute to the loss of neuronal function.



Fig. 1.3 A model of the assembly of polyQ expansion proteins into amyloid-like fibrils. A native monomer can change its conformation into a set of distinct misfolded monomers. In order to misfold, the protein has to overcome a high-energy barrier depicted by the rightwardpointing arrows. Each of the misfolded monomers can give rise to higher order species, like annular oligomers, spherical oligomers, amorphous aggregates or fibrils. It is believed that amorphous aggregates, fibrils and inclusions are protective, while oligomers are toxic. Modified from Muchowski and Wacker, 2005.

It has to be noted, however, that the aggregation process is quite complex, and it was shown that there are various stages with oligomers and aggregate intermediates of different properties (Wacker et al., 2004) (Fig. 1.3). Most studies concentrate on the last step of macroscopic aggregates that are possible to visualize under a light microscope and do not take into account smaller microaggregates, oligomeric species, subtle morphological changes or changes in biochemical properties that are probably more relevant to toxicity.

1.3.4. The ubiquitin-proteasome pathway

All cellular proteins are continually being synthesized and degraded as part of normal cell function. To ensure cell viability, damaged or mutated proteins have to be removed. The ubiquitin-proteasome system (UPS) is a complex multi-enzymatic machinery responsible for highly selective intracellular protein degradation (Ciechanover, 2005) (Fig. 1.4). To be degraded, a protein needs to be marked with a covalently attached chain consisting of multiple moieties of a protein ubiquitin, linked through lysine 48. The machinery responsible for ubiquitin-tagging consists of three types of enzymes: E1, the ubiquitin-activating enzyme, E2, the ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme and E3, the substrate-specific ubiquitin ligase. Once the target protein is tagged with a polyubiquitin chain, it is recognized as a proteasomal substrate and degraded into smaller peptides. The 26S proteasome is a ~1,5 MDa enzyme composed of two subcomplexes. The 20S barrel shaped core particle has six proteolytic sites: two of them preferentially cleave after hydrophobic residues, two after basic ones and two after acidic ones (Coux et al., 1996). The 19S regulatory particle is located at both ends of the 20S particle. It recognizes polyubiquitin chains, unfolds substrates in an ATP-dependent way and inserts them to the core particle for degradation.

Mutant huntingtin inclusions stain positively for ubiquitin, proteasomal components and chaperones (Davies et al., 1997; Jana et al., 2000;



Fig. 1.4 The ubiquitin-proteasome system.

Ubiquitin is activated by the ubiquitin-activating enzyme, E1 (1) and transferred to a ubiquitinconjugating enzyme (UBC), E2 (2). E2 transfers ubiquitin to the substrate protein bound to a ubiquitin ligase, E3. Ubiquitin ligases recognize substrates and confer specificity to the degradation machinery. If the E3 ligase belongs to the RING finger family, the transfer of ubiquitin is direct from E2 to the substrate protein (3). In case of the HECT type E3 ligases, ubiquitin is first transferred to the ligase and then conjugated to the substrate (4). Polyubiquitin chain serves as a recognition signal for the proteasome, which degrades the substrate protein into short peptides (5, 6). Ubiquitin is cleaved off by de-ubiquitinating enzymes (DUBs) and can be reused in another cycle of degradation (7). From Ciechanover, 2005.

Wyttenbach et al., 2000; Jana et al., 2001; Waelter et al., 2001). This led to the hypothesis that mutant huntingtin has a different conformation than the wild type protein and is recognized by cellular chaperones as misfolded. Failure to correct its structure targets the mutant protein for degradation via the UPS. Localization of the UPS components to huntingtin aggregates could indicate that they are specifically recruited and that proteolysis occurs at high rates (Chen et al., 2008). Alternatively, it could mean that the degradation attempt was unsuccessful, and the degradation components became trapped in the aggregates. Long glutamine stretches are in fact considered to be a "difficult" substrate for the proteasome (Jana et al., 2001; Venkatraman et al., 2004) and may block its function. It was shown that eukaryotic proteasomes cannot digest polyglutamine stretches *in vitro* and that they release them for degradation by the puromycin-sensitive aminopeptidase (Bhutani et al., 2007). The idea of the UPS impairment by expanded polyglutamine proteins received much

attention in recent years. For instance, pharmacological inhibitors of the proteasome increase the amount of mutant huntingtin aggregation (Jana et al., 2001; Waelter et al., 2001). In addition, the proteasome was shown to be impaired in experiments using fluorescent sensors of its function (Bence et al., 2001; Verhoef et al., 2002). Furthermore, accumulation of Lys-48 linked ubiquitin chains, as well as Lys-11 and Lys-63 chains normally not associated with protein degradation, was observed in animal models of HD (Bennett et al., 2007). Moreover, expression of proteins that stimulate proteasomal degradation, like E3 ligases Hrd1, E6-AP and CHIP or proteasome activator PA28, protects from mutant huntingtin toxicity (Jana et al., 2005; Al-Ramahi et al., 2006; Seo et al., 2007; Yang et al., 2007; Mishra et al., 2008). In a conditional HD mouse model switching off the mutant gene leads to a complete clearance of inclusion bodies (and reversal of motor symptoms) in a proteasomedependent manner (Yamamoto et al., 2000; Martin-Aparicio et al., 2001). This signifies that the proteasome has the intrinsic capability of removing mutant huntingtin and suggests a potential therapeutic route of enhancing its activity.

1.3.5. Autophagy

Another intracellular degradation pathway, which only recently gained interest with regard to its importance for disease, is autophagy (specifically macroautophagy). It involves the formation of a double membrane autophagosome around a portion of the cytoplasm that later fuses with a lysosome. The contents of the autophagic vacuole are then degraded by lysosomal hydrolases (Fig. 1.5). The process of autophagosomal membrane expansion involves Atg (autophagy-related genes) proteins that bear some resemblance to the components of the ubiquitin chain formation machinery (Rubinsztein et al., 2007). The difference between the two degradation routes is that the UPS is more specific and targets short-lived nuclear and cytosolic proteins, while autophagy, besides membrane-bound proteins and whole organelles, removes all proteins that happen to be in the portion of the



Fig. 1.5 A schematic illustration of macroautophagy.

A phagophore membrane, of so far unknown origin, expands, sequestering cytoplasm and eventually forming a double-membrane autophagosome. Subsequently, the autophagosome fuses with a lysosome, which contains acidic hydrolases (AH). The fused compartment where the contents of the autophagosome are degraded is called an autophagolysosome or an autolysosome. Nutrients generated by macromolecular autophagic degradation are important for cell survival during starvation. Autophagy also degrades microbial pathogens as part of the immune response. Recently, it has become clear that autophagic degradation is crucial for the function of the nervous system and has implications in several neurodegenerative diseases. Modified from Rubinsztein et al., 2007.

cytoplasm engulfed by the autophagic membrane. In addition, autophagy can remove folded substrates as opposed to proteasomes which require that a protein is unfolded before it is inserted into the narrow barrel of the proteasomal core.

Mutant huntingtin was observed in association with multivesicular bodies (organelles involved in protein degradation) in brains of HD patients (Sapp et al., 1997) and autophagosomes in cell culture (Kegel et al., 2000). Furthermore, the number of autophagosomes is elevated in HD models (Petersen et al., 2001; Nagata et al., 2004). This could reflect either an induction of autophagy or a decrease in fusion events between autophagosomes and lysosomes. Aggregates of mutant huntingtin sequester mTOR (mammalian target of rapamycin) protein, which is an inhibitor of autophagy. Thus, inclusion body formation could serve as a protective mechanism stimulating autophagy that in turn removes the aggregation-prone protein. The macroscopic aggregates themselves, however, are too big to be removed by means of autophagy, which probably targets soluble species and oligomers (Rubinsztein et al.,

2005). It was shown that stimulation of autophagy reduces the levels of mutant huntingtin, decreases the amount of aggregation and has a neuroprotective effect (Ravikumar et al., 2002; Ravikumar et al., 2004; Iwata et al., 2005; Shibata et al., 2006). Interestingly, neuron-specific knock-out of autophagy related genes in mice results in a progressive neurodegenerative phenotype with motor abnormalities and formation of inclusion bodies containing ubiquitinated proteins what further underscores the importance of autophagy in the brain (Hara et al., 2006; Komatsu et al., 2006).

1.3.6. Mitochondrial dysfunction

Defects in energy metabolism were first indicated by the fact that HD patients suffer from severe weight loss despite increased caloric intake. Subsequent studies indeed revealed aberrations in mitochondrial function. Lymphoblasts from HD patients show reduced mitochondrial membrane potential and Ca⁺⁺ uptake (Panov et al., 2002) as well as profound morphological abnormalities of mitochondria (Squitieri et al., 2006). Mutant huntingtin was found to bind to the outer mitochondrial membrane in cell culture (Choo et al., 2004). It significantly decreased Ca⁺⁺ threshold necessary to trigger mitochondrial permeability transition pore opening, which was accompanied by a release of cytochrome c (a key event in the apoptotic cascade (Zamzami and Kroemer, 2001)). Defects in aconitase, complex II and III of the respiratory chain as well as abnormalities in mitochondrial structure were observed in biopsies and post mortem brain samples of HD patients (Goebel et al., 1978; Browne et al., 1997; Tabrizi et al., 1999). Mutant huntingtin also leads to decreased mitochondrial ATP levels and mitochondrial ADP-uptake (Seong et al., 2005). Moreover, exposure to 3-nitropropionic acid, an inhibitor of complex II leads to symptoms resembling those of HD (Beal et al., 1993; Ludolph and Munch, 1999). Interestingly, knockout mice of PGC-1a, a gene crucial for mitochondria biogenesis and defense mechanisms against reactive oxygen species, develop a neurodegenerative phenotype reminiscent of HD with motor impairment and cell loss in the striatum (Lin et al., 2004).

19

1.3.7. Signaling pathways implicated in HD

Several signal transduction pathways are modified in response to mutant huntingtin. Among them, activation of mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK)-signaling was observed. MAP kinase pathways are highly conserved cascades of protein kinases, activated by a range of growth factors and other stimuli. They regulate cell growth, differentiation and apoptosis (Cooper, 2000; Johnson and Lapadat, 2002). Generally, activation of the extracellular signalregulated kinase (ERK) and the PI3K-Akt signaling pathways promotes cell survival, whereas activation of the stress-activated protein kinases (SAPK's): c-Jun N-terminal kinases (JNK's) and the p38 MAP kinase (p38 MAPK) leads to cell death (Fig. 1.6).



Fig. 1.6 A schematic illustration of the MAP kinase pathway.

Extracellular stimuli initiate a cascade of phosphorylation events in which upstream kinases act on downstream ones. The MAP kinases themselves phosphorylate many cellular targets, including transcription factors, affecting a variety of cellular responses. Activation of ERK kinase leads to cell growth and differentiation. Activation of p38 and JNK kinases results in inflammatory response or cell death. ERK, extracellular signal-regulated kinase, JNK. c-Jun N-terminal kinase, MAP mitogen-activated protein, MEK, MAP/ERK kinase, MEKK, MEK kinase, MKK, MAP kinase kinase. Modified from Cooper, 2000.

Mutant huntingtin activates the proapoptotic JNK kinase in several models of HD (Liu, 1998; Merienne et al., 2003; Apostol et al., 2006). Furthermore, the Akt pathway was shown to be altered in HD and activation of ERK/Akt prosurvival kinases was found to protect from mutant huntingtin toxicity (Humbert et al., 2002; Colin et al., 2005; Varma et al., 2007). Akt kinase phosphorylates mutant

huntingtin at serine 421, reducing its toxicity (Humbert et al., 2002; Warby et al., 2005). Another kinase acting on huntingtin is Cdk5 which phosphorylates it at serine 434 reducing its cleavage, aggregation and toxicity (Luo et al., 2005).

1.4. Chaperone-mediated neuroprotection

In the crowded and highly-reactive cellular environment, proteins, which are not very stable at 37°C, are at permanent risk of spontaneous denaturation or abnormal chemical modification that could lead to aberrant interactions with other proteins (Ellis, 1997). To tackle such problems, organisms have developed a very conserved class of proteins called molecular chaperones. They correctly fold newly synthesized proteins, recognize and refold proteins which have lost their conformation, prevent aggregation and target unfolded proteins for degradation (Hartl and Hayer-Hartl, 2002). Together with the UPS, they constitute the cellular protein guality control system. In response to stressful stimuli (including but not limited to temperature elevation), many chaperones (heat shock proteins, Hsps) are induced or upregulated as part of the so-called heat shock response which serves to maintain cell function and viability. Chaperones act by binding to hydrophobic surfaces of other proteins thereby shielding them from the cellular milieu, preventing unwanted interactions and protecting them from the formation of off-pathway intermediates and aggregation (Bukau and Horwich, 1998; Wegele et al., 2004). Furthermore, chaperones recognize misfolded substrates and target them for proteasomal degradation (Lee et al., 1996; Bercovich et al., 1997). Proteins whose erroneous structure is not corrected tend to oligomerize and aggregate. Since aggregates are a pathologic hallmark feature of HD and other polyglutamine diseases, it appears that the protein quality control pathway is not working efficiently in those disorders. Therefore, stimulating chaperone activity was suggested to be another strategy with high therapeutic potential.

1.4.1. Hsp70 and Hsp40

Hsp70 and Hsp40, two chaperones involved in folding of nascent peptides, were given particularly high attention in polyglutamine diseases. Both are able to reduce the amount of polyQ aggregation and/or toxicity in cell culture (Cummings et al., 1998; Chai et al., 1999; Jana et al., 2000; Kobayashi et al., 2000). They interact with mutant huntingtin in a polyglutamine-length dependent manner and localize to inclusion bodies (Cummings et al., 1998; Stenoien et al., 1999; Jana et al., 2000). They were also shown to increase the degradation of mutant androgen receptor (which underlies spinobulbar muscular atrophy) by the proteasome (Bailey et al., 2002). Both chaperones mediate protection from polyQ-induced toxicity in D. melanogaster (Warrick et al., 1999; Chan et al., 2000; Fernandez-Funez et al., 2000; Kazemi-Esfarjani and Benzer, 2000), and Hsp70 significantly improves the phenotype in a mouse model of spinocerebellar ataxia 1 (Cummings et al., 2001), although without affecting the formation of inclusions. This was explained by in vitro studies which showed that Hsp70 together with Hsp40 facilitates the formation of detergent-soluble amorphous aggregates (as opposed to detergentinsoluble fibrillar ones) as seen by biochemical analysis and atomic force microscopy (Muchowski et al., 2000; Wacker et al., 2004). These two types of aggregates are indistinguishable by light microscopy but have very different biochemical properties. However, overexpression of Hsp70 in the R6/2 HD mouse model has only a minor effect on disease progression (Hansson et al., 2003; Hay et al., 2004).

1.4.2. Other chaperones

Expression of the yeast chaperone Hsp104 in *C. elegans* suppresses both aggregate formation and toxicity of expanded polyglutamine proteins (Satyal et al., 2000). A mammalian chaperone VCP/p97 (valosin-containing protein, a member of the AAA+ family of ATPase proteins), which is distantly related

Introduction

to Hsp104, localizes to polyQ aggregates and modifies their formation (Hirabayashi et al., 2001; Boeddrich et al., 2006; Kobayashi et al., 2007). Paradoxically, both in case of Hsp104 and VCP/p97, chaperone knock-down has the same effect on aggregation as its excess. This means that they participate both in aggregate formation and solubilization, depending on the amount and balance with other molecular chaperones. A small chaperone Hsp27 was shown to suppress mutant huntingtin-induced reactive oxygen species formation and death in cell culture (Wyttenbach et al., 2002). However, double transgenic R6/2/Hsp27 mice again failed to show any improvement (Zourlidou et al., 2007). Two recent studies report that the cytosolic chaperonin (CCT)/TRiC reduces mutant huntingtin aggregation and promotes the formation of nontoxic oligomers (Behrends et al., 2006; Kitamura et al., 2006). Additionally, a disaccharide trehalose, which is a chemical chaperone in some species, was found to inhibit polyQ aggregation and lead to an amelioration of the phenotype in the R6/2 mouse model of HD (Attfield, 1987; Tanaka et al., 2004).

1.4.3. The relevance of molecular chaperones in neurodegeneration

The importance of chaperones for normal cell function is further underscored by a study showing that a dominant negative mutant of Hsp70 leads to a neurodegenerative phenotype even in the absence of neurodegenerationrelated protein overexpression in *D. melanogaster* (Auluck et al., 2002). Furthermore, it was shown that the induction levels of Hsp70 in neurons of different brain structures correlate with their sensitivity to mutant huntingtin (Tagawa et al., 2007). Cortical and striatal neurons, which are most vulnerable in HD, displayed lower Hsp70 levels, while cerebellar granule neurons, which are spared in HD, upregulated their Hsp70 levels in response to mutant huntingtin. Moreover, expression of polyQ expansion proteins in *C. elegans* disrupts the global balance of protein folding quality control (Gidalevitz et al., 2006). Unbiased genetic screens for modifiers of polyQ toxicity and aggregation in *S. cerevisiae*, *D. melanogaster* and *C. elegans* identified Hsp70 and Hsp40 homologues as the most potent suppressors (Fernandez-Funez et al., 2000; Kazemi-Esfarjani and Benzer, 2000; Willingham et al., 2003; Nollen et al., 2004).



Fig. 1.7 Hsp70 can inhibit apoptosis in several ways.

(1) It inhibits the SAPK/JNK kinase. (2) It inhibits caspase 3 activation. (3) It increases the expression of the antiapoptotic Bcl-2. (4) It prevents the formation of the apoptosome. (5) It can also act downstream of caspase 3 activation. Modified from Eurekah Bioscience Collection, © 2000-2005 Landes Bioscience.

In addition to protection from unfolded proteins and stimulation of their degradation, chaperones can interfere with other detrimental processes that occur in HD, including apoptosis, oxidative stress and abnormal activation of signaling pathways (Fig. 1.7) (Zhou et al., 2001). They are, therefore, an interesting therapeutic target for HD and other neurodegenerative diseases. However, as discussed above, their mechanisms of action are still not fully understood and there are often conflicting data regarding chaperone-mediated neuroprotection. More studies are needed to be done in order to explain the mechanisms underlying different effects and contradicting results.

1.5. BAG1

BAG1 (Bcl-2-associated athanogene) is an antiapoptotic protein discovered in a screen for molecules that bind the anti-cell death protein Bcl-2 (Takayama et al., 1995). There are four different isoforms in humans (BAG1, BAG1-L –M and –S) and two in mice (BAG1-L and BAG1), originating from one mRNA by alternative translation initiation site (Packham et al., 1997; Takayama et al., 1998; Yang et al., 1998). Meanwhile, five more human BAG proteins were reported. They share a highly conserved C-terminal 110-124 amino acid long BAG domain but differ greatly in their N-terminal domains (Takayama et al., 1999; Doong et al., 2002).

BAG1 is particularly interesting due to its many interaction partners and its involvement in a wide array of cellular processes. Overexpression of BAG1 isoforms has been demonstrated to regulate apoptosis, protein degradation, proliferation, transcription, metastasis and cell motility (see table 1 for a list of its binding partners and functions). It acts as a nucleotide exchange factor for the Hsp70 family of molecular chaperones to which it binds through its BAG domain. It stimulates Hsp70 ATPase activity and unloading of the substrate (Hohfeld and Jentsch, 1997; Takayama et al., 1997; Zeiner et al., 1997; Bimston et al., 1998; Gassler et al., 2001; Sondermann et al., 2001). In an in vitro study using a luciferase-based assay to monitor the Hsp70 activity, it was found to negatively influence Hsp70 ability to refold luciferase after a heat shock (Nollen et al., 2000). However, recent studies show that BAG1 can also function as a stimulatory interaction partner of Hsp70 (Luders et al., 2000; Terada and Mori, 2000; Gassler et al., 2001; Liman et al., 2005). These discrepancies reflect the complexity of the protein folding machinery whose function depends on the cell type, conditions and the delicate balance between chaperones and their co-factors.

Another conserved domain shared between all isoforms of BAG1 is a ubiquitin-like motif in the N-terminus of the protein indicating its role in protein



Fig. 1.8 The structure of the murine BAG1.

Mouse BAG1 (short isoform) is a 219 amino acid long protein. The BAG and the UBL (ubiquitinlike) domains are marked as grey boxes. Numbers correspond to the boundaries of these motifs. Binding sites of Hsp70, Raf-1 and the proteasome are indicated.

degradation (Fig. 1.8). BAG1 was found to bind to the 26S proteasome and to the E3 ubiquitin ligase CHIP (carboxyl terminus of Hsc70-interacting protein) (Luders et al., 2000; Alberti et al., 2002). It was shown that CHIP adds a Lys-11 linked ubiquitin chain to BAG1, what increases its association with the proteasome but does not lead to its degradation. BAG1 in turn recruits Hsc70/Hsp70 chaperones to the proteasome. It was demonstrated that BAG1 working in a complex with CHIP can enhance proteasomal degradation of the glucocorticoid hormone receptor (Demand et al., 2001) (Fig. 1.9).

BAG1 also binds and stimulates the serine/threonine protein kinase Raf-1, thus activating the MAP kinase-ERK pathway leading to cell growth and differentiation (Wang et al., 1996; Kermer et al., 2002) (Fig. 1.6). Binding to



Fig. 1.9 A model of chaperone-mediated targeting of a substrate protein for degradation by the proteasome. The E3-ligase CHIP associates with Hsp70 and recruits an E2 ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme from the Ubc4/5 family to the complex. Together they ubiquitinate the Hsp70-bound substrate. BAG1 binds to Hsp70 through the BAG domain. It targets the whole complex to the proteasome by associating with it through its ubiquitin-like domain, thereby facilitating degradation of the substrate. From Demand et al., 2001.

Raf-1 is mediated by the second and third helices of the BAG domain, while binding to Hsp70 through the first and second helices. These two interactions of BAG1 are therefore mutually exclusive and it has been suggested that, since BAG1 cellular levels are lower than that of Hsp70 or Raf-1, they might be competing for BAG1 binding. Consequently, BAG1 could serve as a switch between cell growth and cellular stress response (Song et al., 2001). When cells are under stress, Hsp70 levels increase preventing BAG1 from interacting and stimulating Raf-1. This diminishes Raf-1 signaling and inhibits events like DNA synthesis leading to an arrest in cell cycle.

BAG1 is particularly important for the nervous system. It stimulates neuronal differentiation (Kermer et al., 2002) and its mouse knock-out is embryonically lethal due to massive apoptosis in the liver and in the nervous system (Gotz et al., 2005). It also protects from ischemic damage (Kermer et al., 2003) and various other apoptotic insults (Takayama et al., 1995; Schulz et al., 1997; Townsend et al., 2003; Townsend et al., 2004).

Binding partner	Effect	lsoform	Reference
Bcl-2	+	BAG-1	(Takayama et al., 1997)
Hsc70/Hsp70	+/-	all isoforms	(Nollen et al., 2000; Terada and Mori, 2000; Gassler et al., 2001; Liman et al., 2005)
Proteasome		BAG-1	(Luders et al., 2000; Alberti et al., 2002; Elliott et al., 2007)
CHIP	+	BAG-1	(Demand et al., 2001)

Table 1 Interaction partners of BAG1. Plus sign means BAG1 has a stimulatory effect on the binding partner, minus sign indicates inhibitory effect.

Siah1	-	BAG-1	(Matsuzawa et al., 1998)
Raf1	+	BAG-1	(Wang et al., 1996; Song et al., 2001)
Hepatocyte growth factor; platelet derived growth factor	+	BAG-1	(Bardelli et al., 1996)
Glucocorticoid receptor	-	BAG-1L BAG-1M	(Kullmann et al., 1998; Schneikert et al., 1999; Schmidt et al., 2003)
Androgen receptor	+	BAG-1L	(Froesch et al., 1998)
Retinoic acid receptor	-	BAG-1	(Liu et al., 1998)
DNA (stimulation of transcription)	+	BAG-1L, BAG-1M	(Zeiner et al., 1999; Niyaz et al., 2001; Takahashi et al., 2001)

2. AIMS OF THE STUDY

The purpose of this project was to investigate the potential of BAG1 in ameliorating mutant huntingtin toxicity. BAG1 appears as an interesting therapeutic target in context of HD since it links many cellular pathways that are implicated in HD, like protein folding, the UPS, ERK signaling and the apoptotic machinery. Moreover, BAG1 can bind and inhibit Siah1, a p53-inducible proapoptotic protein (Matsuzawa et al., 1998), which was recently identified as being crucial for nuclear translocation of the mutant huntingtin fragment (Bae et al., 2006). Thus, we hypothesized that BAG1 may aid in refolding of mutant huntingtin, its degradation or inhibit its nuclear accumulation. In this study, we perform a detailed examination of BAG1 effects on the above mentioned processes as well as on mutant huntingtin toxicity in various *in vitro* and *in vivo* HD models.

3. MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1 Chemicals

Applichem*:* 2-Propanol, Chloroform, Glycine, Guanidine hydrochloride, Imidazole, Milk powder, Tris, Tween-20

Biorad: Precision Plus Protein dual color standard

Calbiochem: Moviol, ProteoExtract Subcellular Proteome Extraction Kit

Fluka: p-coumaric acid

Gibco: OptiMEM

GeReSo mbH: Ethanol

Invitrogen: DNase I, Lipofectamine 2000, RNase H, SuperScript III Reverse Transcriptase

Macherey-Nagel: NucleoSpin Plasmid miniprep kit

Merck: Ammonium peroxide, DAPI, Hydrogen peroxide, Manganese chloride (MnCl₂*4H₂O), Proteinase K, Sodium citrate

PAA: DMEM, FCS, penicillin/streptomycin (PS), trypsin-EDTA.

QIAGEN: Ni-NTA Superflow, QIAGEN Plasmid Maxi Kit, QIAquick Gel Extraction Kit, PCR purification kit

Roche: DNAse I, complete protease inhibitor cocktail, Shrimp Alkaline Phosphatase

Roth: Acetone, Ampicillin, 30% acrylamide mix, Boric acid, Bromophenol blue, Calcium chloride $(CaCl_2)$, Dithiothreitol (DTT), EDTA, Glycerol, HEPES, Hydrogen chloride (HCl), Kanamycin, LB medium, LB agar, Magnesium sulphate (MgSO₄), Methanol, Paraformaldehyde (PFA), Potassium chloride (KCl), Potassium phosphate (KH₂PO₄), Sodium hydroxide pellets, Sodium chloride (NaCl), Sodium phosphate (Na₂HPO₄*7H₂O and NaH₂PO₄), TEMED, Triton X-100, Tryptone, Urea

Serva: Bromphenol blue sodium salt

Sigma*:* 2-mercaptoethanol, Aprotinin, Biotinylated SDS Molecular Weight Standard Mixture for SDS-PAGE (Molecular Weight Range 14,300 - 97,000 Da), BSA, Crystal violet, Cycloheximide, DMSO, EDTA, Ethidium bromide, Leupeptin, Luminol, Magnesium chloride, MG132, Nonidet P-40, Pepstatin, PIPES, Puromycin, Sodium bicarbonate, Sodium deoxycholate, Sodium dodecyl sulphate (SDS), Trypsin, Yeast extract

Starlab: Agarose

3.2. Solutions and buffers

General	
PBS	137 mM NaCl 2,7 mM KCl 4,3 mM Na ₂ HPO ₄ *7H ₂ O 1,47 mM KH ₂ PO ₄ pH 7,4
<u>TBS-T</u>	38 mM Tris 150 mM NaCl 0,1% Tween20 pH 7,6
PBS-T	1 ml Tween20 in 1 l PBS
Drosophila buffers	
<u>Squishing buffer</u>	10 mM TrisHCl pH 8,0 1 mM EDTA 25 mM NaCl 200 μg/μl Proteinase K
RIPA	50 mM TrisCl pH 8,0 150 mM NaCl 0,1% SDS 0,5% sodium deoxycholate 1% Nonidet P-40 complete protease inhibitor cocktail
Protein biochemistry	
<u>Lysis buffer</u>	50 mM Tris-HCl (pH 7,4) 150 mM NaCl 1% Triton-X 100
	complete protease inhibitor cocktail

Filter retardation 6x sample buffer	7 ml TrisCl/SDS pH 6,8 3 ml glycerol 1,2 g SDS 0,46 g DTT
<u>6x SDS sample buffer</u>	7 ml 4x TrisCl/SDS pH 6,8 3 ml glycerol 1 g SDS 0,6 ml β-mercaptoethanol 10 mg bromophenol blue
<u>4x Tris-HCI/SDS, pH 6,8</u>	0,5 M Tris 0,4% SDS
4x Tris-HCI/SDS, pH 8,8	1,5 M Tris 0,4% SDS
12% polyacrylamide resolving gel	1,6 ml H ₂ O 2 ml 30% acrylamide mix 1,35 ml 4XTris-HCl/SDS pH 8,8 50 μl 10% ammonium persulfate 2 μl TEMED
5% polyacrylamide stacking gel	0,68 ml H ₂ O 170 μl 30% acrylamide mix 140 μl 4XTris-HCl/SDS pH 6,8 10 μl 10% ammonium persulfate 1 μl TEMED
Electrophoresis buffer	10x solution: 250 mM Tris 1,9 M glycine 1% SDS
<u>Transfer buffer</u>	25 mM Tris 192 mM glycine 20% methanol pH 8,3
ECL	solution 1: 100 μl 250 mM luminol

44 µl 90 mM p-coumaric acid

	1 ml 1 M Tris pH 8,5 8,85 ml H ₂ O
Calcium phosphate transfection	solution 2: 6 μl 30% H ₂ O ₂ 1 ml Tris pH 8,5 9 ml H ₂ O
<u>HEPES buffer 2x</u>	50 mM HEPES 250 mM NaCl 1,5 mM Na ₂ HPO ₄ pH 6,9
Nickel beads pull-down	
<u>Buffer 1</u> (Lysis buffer)	6 M Guanidine-HCl 0.1 M Na ₂ HPO ₄ /NaH ₂ PO ₄ 0.01 M Tris-HCL pH 8,0
Buffer 2	8 M Urea 0.1 M Na ₂ HPO ₄ /NaH ₂ PO ₄ 0.01 M Tris-HCL pH 8,0
Buffer 3	8 M Urea 0.1 M Na ₂ HPO ₄ /NaH ₂ PO ₄ 0.01 M Tris-HCL pH 6.3
DNA buffers	
<u>TBE buffer</u>	37,2 g EDTA 540 g Tris 275 g boric acid H ₂ O up to 5 l
<u>10x DNA loading buffer</u>	5,7 ml glycerol 1 ml 1 M Tris, pH 8,0 1 ml 0,1 M EDTA 2,3 ml H ₂ O

Competent cells

SOB medium

0,5% yeast extract 2% tryptone 10 mM NaCl 2,5 mM KCl 10 mM MgCl₂ 10 mM MgSO₄ 10 mM PIPES 15 mM CaCl₂ 250 mM KCl 55 mM MnCl₂ pH 6,7

TB solution

3.3. DNA constructs

The following cDNA constructs were used for transient and stable transfections:

Construct	Vector	Restriction sites	Obtained from
Huntingtin Q15 1-139 (htt-wt)	pcDNA3 (Invitrogen)	Xhol, Apal	W. Roth
Huntingtin Q117 1-139 (htt-mut)	pcDNA3 (Invitrogen)	Xhol, Apal	W. Roth
Huntingtin Q15 1-139 eGFP	pcDNA3 (Invitrogen)	EcoRI, Notl	
Huntingtin Q117 1-139 eGFP	pcDNA3 (Invitrogen)	EcoRI, Notl	
Flag-BAG1	pcDNA3 (Invitrogen)	BamHI, Sall	(Kermer et al., 2002)
Myc-BAG1∆C (aa 1-190)	pcDNA3 (Invitrogen)	HindIII, Xhol	(Liman et al., 2005)
Siah1	pcDNA3 (Invitrogen)	HindIII, Xhol	imaGenes (formerly RZPD)
HA-Siah1 ∆RING	pcDNA3 (Invitrogen)	HindIII, Xhol	
octa-His6-Ubiquitin	рМТ 107	Notl, EcoRl	F. Melchior

3.4. Cloning

3.4.1. Primers

Primer design was performed using GENtle software.

Subcloning of flag-BAG1 to pcDNA3 vector: Forward: 5' CGGTAGGATCCATGGACTACAAAGACGACAAGC 3' Reverse: 5' CGGGTCGACTCATTCAGCCAGGGCCAA 3' Restriction sites: BamHI/Sall

Subcloning of flag-BAG1 to pUAST fly expression vector Forward: 5' CGTAGGCGGCCGCATGGACTACAAAGACG 3' Reverse: 5' CGCTCGAGTCATTCAGCCAGGGC 3' Restriction sites: Notl/Xhol

N-terminal HA tagging of Siah1 Forward: 5' GCAAGCTTATGTACCCATACGACGTCCCAGACTACG CTAGCCGTC AGACTGCTACAGC 3' Reverse: 5' CCTCTCGAGTCAACACATGGAAATAGTTACATTGATG CCTAAATTGCCATTTTCTGCAAAAAGC 3' Restriction sites: HindIII/XhoI

Deletion of the RING domain from Siah1 Forward: 5' GGCCCTTTGGGATCCATTCGCAACTTGGC 3' Reverse: 5' CTCAAAAAGACTCGCCAAGTCATTGTTGG 3'

GAL4 (fly genotyping for elav-GAL4): Forward: 5' AAGAGCATCCCTGGGCATAAA 3' Reverse: 5' ATGAAGCTACTGTCTTCTATCG 3'

RKO (fly genotyping for cDNAs cloned into pUAST vector): RKO 19: 5' AGAAGTAAGGTTCCTTCACAA 3' RKO 20: 5' ACTGAAATCTGCCAAGAAGTA 3'

GAPDH primers for RT-PCR: Forward: 5' CCCCACACACATGCACTTACC 3' Reverse: 5' CCTACTCCCAGGGCTTTGATT 3' Huntingtin primers for RT-PCR: Forward: 5' CGCAGAGTCAGATGTCAGGA 3' Reverse: 5' GAACTTCAGGGTCAGCTTGC 3'

3.4.2. PCR-amplification

Before amplification of the cDNA sequence of interest, the most suitable PCR conditions were established. Different annealing temperatures between 54 and 58°C, as well as varying denaturation, annealing and amplification times were used for the initial amplification. The conditions that resulted in the best yield of the PCR product were chosen for further amplification.

A PCR reaction mix typically contained:

5 μ l of Pfu polymerase buffer (STRATAGENE) 200 nM of forward and reverse primers (Sigma) 200 μ M of dATP, dCTP, dGTP, dTTP (Amersham) 20 ng of template DNA, 0,7 μ l of PfuTurbo polymerase (STRATAGENE) H₂O to achieve a total volume of 50 μ l.

The amplification was performed on a PCR machine from Peqlab (Cyclone 25).

Duration	Temperature	Cycles
60 sec	94°C	1
30 sec	94°C	
30 sec	55°C	30
45 sec	72°C	
10 min	72°C	1
Hold	4°C	

A typical PCR reaction was:

The PCR product was purified using the PCR purification kit from Qiagen.
3.4.3. DNA restriction and purification

Restriction digest was performed using 2,5 µg of plasmid DNA and the whole amount of the PCR product. 0,5 µl of each endonuclease (New England Biolabs or Fermentas) was added and the reaction was performed in an appropriate buffer supplied by the producer at 37°C overnight. Following the digestion reaction, 1 µl of Shrimp Alkaline Phosphatase (Roche) was added to the sample containing the vector DNA for 1 hour at 37°C. This step is necessary to prevent recircularization of the plasmid. The enzymes were then heat-inactivated for 20 minutes at 65°C. Analysis of the DNA size was performed by agarose gel electrophoresis. To prepare the gel, 1% agarose was dissolved in TBE buffer in a microwave oven. Ethidium bromide solution was then added to the agarose solution (3 µl of 10 mg/ml stock solution to 50 ml of agarose solution) to enable visualization of the bands. DNA samples were mixed with 10x DNA loading buffer. The gel was run in 1x TBE buffer at 100 V. DNA bands were visualized by UV-light of 365 nm at Gel Documentation 2000^{TM} UV-transilluminator (Bio-Rad) and the bands were excised using a scalpel. DNA extraction after gel electrophoresis was performed in accordance with QIAquick Gel Extraction Kit (QIAGEN) protocol. The DNA concentration in the final solution was measured at the Biophotometer (Eppendorf) at 260 nm.

3.4.4. DNA ligation and transformation in *E. coli*

For ligation, vector DNA and cDNA fragment were mixed in a molar ratio of 1:2 and brought to final volume of 17 µl with H₂O. The DNA was incubated for 5 minutes at 45°C to disrupt secondary structure formation. Following a brief cooling step on ice, 2 µl of ligation buffer and 1 µl of T4 ligase (New England Biolabs) were added. The ligation reaction was performed for 1 hour at room temperature. The ligase was then inactivated by heating the samples at 65°C for 20 minutes. 10 µl of the reaction was added to 100 μ l of competent DH5 α cells. The mixture was incubated on ice for 10 minutes and subsequently the bacteria were heat-shocked for 45 seconds at 42°C. Immediately after the heat-shock, 900 µl of LB medium was added and the cells were incubated for one hour with moderate shaking at 37°C and plated on LB agar plates containing ampicillin or kanamycin (100 µg/ ml) for selection of clones. Bacterial clones were then picked and grown in 5 ml of LB medium with corresponding antibiotic at 37°C, 250 rpm shaking overnight. Plasmid DNA was purified using a miniprep kit. To verify whether the cloning was successful, the DNA was digested with the restriction enzymes used for cloning for 1 hour at 37°C and run on a 1% agarose gel. Clones containing an insert of the correct size were sent for sequencing to SEQLAB.

3.4.5. PCR mutagenesis

Siah1∆RING construct was created using PCR mutagenesis. This method uses a proof-reading polymerase to read all the way around the plasmid. The primers were designed to border the deletion on two sides and were phosphorylated at the 5' end. The reaction mix contained:

5 µl 10x Pfu polymerase buffer

- 4 µl 10 mM dNTPs
- 0,2 μ I of each primer (10 μ M)
- 1 µl plasmid template (10 ng)

37,6 µl H₂O

2 µl Pfu polymerase

The PCR conditions were:

Duration	Temperature	Cycles
60 sec	94°C	1
30 sec	94°C	
30 sec	55°C	12
12 min	68°C	

The extension time was 2 minutes per kb of the plasmid. The reaction was cooled down to room temperature and 1 μ l of DpnI restriction enzyme (New England Biolabs) was added for 1 hour at 37°C. DpnI is an enzyme which cuts only dam methylated DNA. The parental plasmid DNA is methylated in bacteria and is therefore cut to pieces while the nascent PCR DNA is left intact. 5 μ l of the reaction was transformed into competent DH5 α cells. Six colonies were minipreped, checked by restriction digest whether the insert is of the expected size and two of them were verified by sequencing (SEQLAB).

3.5. Preparation of competent cells for transformation

DH5 α cells were cultured on an LB agar plate at 37°C overnight. 10 large colonies were picked from the plate and cultured in 250 ml SOB in a 1 L flask at 19°C with vigorous shaking to OD (600 nm)=0,5. The flask was placed on ice for 10 minutes. Cells were pelleted for 10 minutes at 3300 x *g*, 4°C. Cells were resuspended in 80 ml ice-cold TB solution, placed on ice for 10 minutes and spun again at 3300 x *g*

for 10 minutes (4°C). Cells were gently resuspended in 20 ml ice-cold TB solution and 1,4 ml DMSO. 300 μ l aliquots were stored at -80°C.

3.6. RT-PCR

The enzymes and oligos were purchased from Invitrogen. RNA was isolated from cells transfected one day before using TRIzol according to manufacturer's protocol. 1 μ g of total RNA was digested with Dnasel for 1 hour in 37°C (final volume 10 μ l, 2 mM MgCl₂). Dnasel was then inactivated by incubation at 70°C for 10 minutes. Reverse transcription was performed as described by the manufacturer using Superscript III RT enzyme in the presence of 0,5 μ l of oligo(dT)s and 0,5 μ l of random hexamers. The reaction was terminated at 70°C for 10 minutes. To remove RNA, 1 μ l of RnaseH was added for 20 minutes at 37°C. 10% of the reverse transcription reaction was then used for the PCR using primers specific for htt or GAPDH with the following cycling conditions:

Duration	Temperature	Cycles
2 min	94°C	1
30 sec	94°C	
30 sec	55°C	17
45 sec	72°C	

5% of the PCR reaction was subjected to agarose gel electrophoresis.

3.7. Cell culture

CSM14.1 wt, STHdh^{Q111} and STHdh⁺ cells (a kind gift from E. Cattaneo) were grown in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium (DMEM) supplemented with 10% foetal bovine serum (FBS), 100 U/ml penicillin and 100 µg/ml streptomycin at 32°C, 5% CO₂ supply. Stably transfected CSM-BAG1 (Kermer et al., 2002) and CSM-BAG Δ C (Liman et al., 2005) cells were maintained in the same medium with an addition of puromycin (8 µg/ml). HEK293T cells were grown in DMEM supplemented with 10% FBS and penicillin/streptomycin in 37°C, 5% CO₂. After reaching approximately 70% confluency, cells were split 1:10. The medium was removed, cells were washed with 2 ml of PBS and 2 ml of 0.05% trypsin/ 0.02% EDTA solution was added to the culture dish and left in the incubator at 37°C for 5 (HEK293T, STHdh^{Q111} and STHdh⁺ cells) or 15 (CSM 14.1 cells) minutes until the cells started to detach from the dish. Trypsin activity was stopped by addition of 2 ml of the cell culture medium to the dish. The mix containing detached cells was transferred to a 15 ml Falcon tube and spun down at 390 x *g*, 4°C, 5 minutes. After removing the supernatant, the cell pellet was resuspended in 1 ml of the culture medium and seeded on culture dishes.

3.8. Stable transfections

50-70% confluent STHdh^{Q111} and STHdh⁺ cells were transfected with flag-BAG1 plasmid containing puromycin resistance cassette or a mock empty vector using Lipofectamine 2000 reagent according to manufacturer's protocol. Selection with 8 µg/ml puromycin was started 24 hours after transfection. After 5 days, the cells were trypsinized, counted and seeded in 96-well plates (0,5 cell per well) with selection medium. 3 to 4 weeks later, wells containing single clones were identified by light microscopy. The cells were then transferred to larger plates for expansion and further processing. Expression of flag-BAG1 was confirmed by western blotting.

3.9. Transient transfections

Most transfections were done using Lipofectamine 2000 reagent. In case when large amount of cells needed to be transfected, a more cost-efficient calcium phosphate method was used.

3.9.1. Lipofectamine 2000

To transfect cells seeded on a 6 well plate, 800-1600 ng of DNA was diluted in 100 μ l of OptiMEM medium. 4 μ l of Lipofectamine 2000 was diluted in 100 μ l of OptiMEM. After 5 minutes incubation at room temperature, the DNA solution was mixed with the Lipofectamine 2000 solution and incubated for another 20 minutes. In the meantime, cell culture medium was exchanged for a fresh one without antibiotics to avoid cell death. DNA•Lipofectamine complexes were then added dropwise to the cells. Gene expression was assayed 24 to 48 hours later. For transfections in dishes of different size, the amount of reagents was scaled up or down according to the relative surface area of the dish.

3.9.2. Calcium phosphate transfections

To transfect cells plated on a 10 cm dish, 45 μ g DNA was mixed with 125 μ l of 2 M CaCl₂ and H₂O to achieve a total volume of 1 ml. 1 ml of 2x HEPES buffer was added, mixed and incubated for 15 minutes at room temperature. During the incubation time, fresh medium was added to the cells. Following the incubation time, the mixture was added dropwise to the cells. Twelve hours post transfection cell were washed in PBS and fresh medium was added. Gene expression was assayed 36 hours later.

3.10. Cell death experiments

STHdh^{Q111} and STHdh⁺ cells stably transfected with flag-BAG1 or empty vector were plated on 96 well plates at 8000 cells/well (8 wells per condition) in permissive temperature (32°C). 24 hours later the cells were transferred to non-permissive temperature (39°C). Cell death was evaluated for seven days by crystal violet staining. Growth medium was removed from cells and 50 µl of crystal violet solution (0,5% in 20% methanol, v/v) was added for 10 minutes. The solution was then washed out with water and plates were left to dry on air for 24 hours. Subsequently, 100 µl of sodium citrate solution (0,1 M in 50% ethanol) was added to the wells to dissolve dried out crystal violet, and the staining intensity was measured using an ELISA plate reader (rainbow, TECAN) at 550 nm.

3.11. Protein extracts preparation

Cells were washed and scraped in ice-cold PBS and pelleted in Eppendorf tubes at 300 x g, 4°C, using a standard table-top centrifuge (Heraeus). Cells were lysed for 15 minutes at 4°C, followed by 10 minutes centrifugation at 16000 x g, at 4°C. The pellets, which were further used for the filter retardation assay, were resuspended in the lysis buffer and sonicated for 30 seconds at 40% power, at 4°C (SONOPULS, Bandelin electronics). Protein concentration was measured using the BCA Protein Assay Kit (Pierce).

Subcellular fractionation was performed using ProteoExtract® Subcellular Proteome Extraction Kit (Calbiochem).

3.12. Filter retardation assay

For the filter retardation assay (Wanker et al., 1999), protein extracts were diluted to 90 μ l with lysis buffer and 15 μ l 6x sample buffer was added. Samples were heated at 98°C for 3 minutes and filtered through a 0.2- μ m cellulose

acetate membrane (Schleicher & Schuell, Dassel, Germany) using a dot-blot filtration unit (Schleicher & Schuell, Dassel, Germany). The membranes were washed briefly with TBS-T and further processed for immunodetection.

3.13. Co-immunoprecipitation

Cell lysates were prepared as described above. Flag-affinity beads (Sigma) were washed twice with lysis buffer and 25 μ l beads were added to each tube. The beads were then incubated with cellular lysates for 2 hours at 4°C with rotation. Subsequently, they were spun down, washed twice with the lysis buffer and twice with TBS buffer (400 μ l, 5 minutes each washing step). Proteins bound to the beads were eluted by adding 20 μ l 2X SDS sample buffer for 5 minutes at 95°C.

3.14. Nickel beads pull-down

Two 10 cm dishes of HEK293T cells per condition were transfected using calcium phosphate transfection (45 μ g DNA per plate, 15 μ g per construct per plate). To block proteasomal degradation of ubiquitinated proteins, cells were incubated with 10 μ M MG132 for 12 hours. Cells from one 10 cm plate were lysed in 3 ml buffer 1 supplemented with 10 mM NEM, 10 mM Imidazole, 1 mg/ ml Aprotinin, 1 mg/ml Pepstatin, 1 mg/ml Leupeptin, followed by 30 seconds sonication (30%, constant mode, SONOPULS, Bandelin electronics). 200 μ l of the lysate was methanol/chloroform precipitated to later asses input protein levels. Lysates were incubated with 200 μ l Ni-NTA resin (Qiagen), previously washed with buffer 1, for 2,5 hours at 4°C.

Ni-beads were extensively washed with 10 ml of the following buffers:

- Buffer 1, supplemented with 10 mM NEM, 10 mM Imidazole, 1 mg/ml Aprotinin, 1 mg/ml Pepstatin, 1 mg/ml Leupeptin
- Buffer 2, supplemented with 10 mM NEM, 10 mM Imidazole, 1 mg/ml Aprotinin, 1 mg/ml Pepstatin, 1 mg/ml Leupeptin
- 3. Buffer 3 pH 6,3, supplemented with 10 mM NEM, 20 mM Imidazole, 1 mg/ml Aprotinin, 1 mg/ml Pepstatin, 1 mg/ml Leupeptin, 0.02% TritonX
- 4. Buffer 3 pH 6,3, supplemented with 10 mM NEM, 10 mM Imidazole, 1 mg/ml Aprotinin, 1 mg/ml Pepstatin, 1 mg/ml Leupeptin, 0.02% TritonX
- Buffer 3 pH 6,3, supplemented with 10 mM NEM, 10 mM Imidazole, 1 mg/ml Aprotinin, 1 mg/ml Pepstatin, 1 mg/ml Leupeptin, 0.01% TritonX
- Buffer 3 pH 6,3, supplemented with 20 mM NEM, 10 mM Imidazole, 1 mg/ml Aprotinin, 1 mg/ml Pepstatin, 1 mg/ml Leupeptin,

Bound proteins were eluted with 250 µl Buffer 3 supplemented with 250 mM

Imidazole. After methanol/chloroform precipitation, pellets were resuspended in 35 μ l SDS sample buffer.

3.15. Methanol/chloroform precipitation

200 µl of the protein extract was mixed with 600 µl methanol and 200 µl chloroform. 600 µl H_2O was added and the samples were centrifuged for 5 minutes at 9500 x g in a table top centrifuge. The upper layer containing H_2O and methanol was discarded. 600 µl methanol was added, mixed and the samples were centrifuged again for 5 minutes at 9500 x g. The supernatant was discarded and the precipitate was let to dry on air for 15 minutes. The pellet was resuspended in 50 µl 1X SDS sample buffer and sonicated to facilitate dissolving.

3.16. SDS-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS- PAGE)

Two-phase gels (12% resolving gel and 5% stacking gel) were used for separation of the proteins according to their molecular weight. To define the molecular weight of loaded proteins, molecular weight marker was loaded and separated in parallel. Equal volumes of protein samples diluted to the same concentration and 6x SDS sample buffer were mixed, heated at 95°C for 5 minutes and loaded in the gel wells. SDS-PAGE was run at 4°C in electrophoresis buffer. The equipment used was Mini-PROTEAN electrophoresis system from Bio-Rad. Electric field of 70 V was applied for 15 minutes to allow samples to enter the gel and then increased to 100 V and kept constant until the desired separation of proteins (as judged by the prestained molecular weight marker) was achieved.

3.17. Immunoblotting

For western blotting, a Mini Trans-Blot Cell setup (7.5 x 10 cm blotting area, Bio-Rad) was used. Following SDS-PAGE, the polyacrylamide gel was placed between two sheets of blotting pads, Whatman filter paper and a nitrocellulose membrane (Applichem), all equilibrated in transfer buffer. The "sandwich" was placed in the Mini Trans-Blot Cell. Amperage of 400mA was applied for 90 minutes at 4°C. After the blotting step, the membrane was incubated in blocking solution (5% milk in TBS-T) for 1 hour at room temperature to avoid unspecific binding of the antibody. Incubation with primary antibodies was carried out at 4°C overnight and with secondary HRP-conjugated antibodies for 1h at room

temperature. The membrane was washed 3 x 20 minutes with TBS-T after each antibody incubation. To develop membranes, equal volumes of ECL-1 and ECL-2 reagents were mixed and applied for 2 minutes onto the membrane. Films (Amersham, Hyperfilm ECL) were exposed to the membrane for various amounts of time in order to achieve the desired signal intensity and developed using AGFA Curix 60 table-top processor.

3.18. Densitometry analysis

To quantify Western blot protein bands, ImageJ software was used. The blot images were opened in the program as tiff files. A same size rectangular selection was drawn around each band and lanes were selected using Analyze>Gels>Select Lane function. Histograms representing the intensity of pixels in the selected areas were created using Analyze>Gels>Plot Lanes function. The area under the histograms, representing pixel intensity in the selected area, was limited using the straight line selection in order to integrate the signal. The values of the histogram area were obtained by clicking inside the histogram with the wand tracing tool. Values corresponding to the protein of interest were normalized by dividing them by the values of the loading control (actin, β -tubulin or histone H2B) to account for differences in the amount of protein loaded.

3.19. Immunocytochemistry

Cells cultured on cover-slips were washed in ice-cold PBS and fixed in cold PBS containing 4% paraformaldehyde, pH 7,4 for 10 minutes at room temperature, followed by several washing steps in PBS. Permeabilization was performed with -20°C acetone for 10 minutes with subsequent preblocking in PBS containing 3% bovine serum albumin and 0,1% Triton-X 100. Cells were incubated in blocking solution containing 1C2 antibody (Chemicon, dilution 1:1000) or BAG1680 antibody (1:1000) for 1 hour at room temperature. Cells were washed three times in PBS-T and incubated with Cy5-conjugated secondary anti-mouse antibody (Jackson ImmunoResearch Laboratories, dilution 1:400 in blocking solution) or Cy3-conjugated secondary anti-rabbit antibody (Jackson ImmunoResearch Laboratories, dilution 1:400 in blocking solution) for 1 hour at room temperature. Cells were again washed three times in PBS-T and mounted on microscope slides using moviol (Calbiochem). Before the last washing step, DAPI solution was applied to cells for 2 minutes to stain the nuclei. Samples were analyzed by epifluorescence (Axioplan, Zeiss) or confocal (TCS SP2 AOBS, Leica) microscopy.

3.20. Antibodies

Antibody	Paicad in	Clonality	Dilution	Obtained
Antibody	Raiseu III	Cionality	Dilution	from
CAG53B (raised against polyQ stretches)	rabbit	polyclonal	1:2000	E.E. Wanker (Davies et al., 1997)
HD1 (recognizes both htt-wt and htt-mut)	rabbit	polyclonal	1:2000	E.E. Wanker (Scherzinger et al., 1997)
1C2 (raised against polyQ stretches)	mouse	monoclonal	1:1000	Chemicon
BAG1680	rabbit	polyclonal	1:1000	J.C. Reed (Kermer et al., 2002)
Siah1	goat	polyclonal	1 :1000	Everest Biotech
βtubulin	mouse	monoclonal	1 :1000	Sigma
Histone H2B	rabbit	polyclonal	1 :2000	Abcam
actin	mouse	monoclonal	1 :5000	Chemicon
HA.11	mouse	monoclonal	1 :1000	Covance
Proteasome α7 subunit	mouse	monoclonal	1 :1000	BIOTREND Chemikalien
HRP- conjugated anti-mouse	goat	polyclonal	1 :2000	Santa Cruz
HRP-conjugated anti-rabbit	goat	polyclonal	1 :4000	Santa Cruz
HRP-conjugated anti-goat	donkey	polyclonal	1 :2000	Santa Cruz

3.21. D. melanogaster techniques

3.21.1. Drosophila Strains

Fly strains were maintained under standard laboratory conditions.

Fly strain	Obtained from	
y[1] w[*]; CxD/TM3, Sb[1] Ser[1]	Bloomington	
elav-GAL4	Bloomington	
UAS-eGFP	A. Voigt (unpublished)	
w; P(w+mC =UAS-Q93httexon1)4F1	J.L. Marsh (Steffan et al., 2001)	

3.21.2. Generation of UAS-BAG1 flies

cDNA coding for mouse flag-BAG1 was cloned into the pUAST *Drosophila* expression vector using Notl and Xhol restriction enzymes. Transgenic *Drosophila* lines were generated by microinjection following standard procedures. Several lines of BAG1 flies with the transgene incorporated on the second or third chromosome were obtained. The w;;UAS-flagBAG1 #8.2 line was used for further experiments.

3.21.3. Recombination of BAG1 flies with elav-GAL4 flies

To recombine BAG1 gene with the pan-neuronal driver elav-GAL4, the following crossing scheme was set up:

$$\begin{array}{c} Q \ w;; BAG1 \times O^{T} \ w;; elav-GAL4 \\ \downarrow \\ O^{T} \ w;; \frac{CxD}{TM3,Sb} \times Q \ w;; \frac{BAG1}{elav-GAL4} \\ \downarrow \\ O^{T} \ w;; \frac{BAG1, elav-GAL4}{TM3,Sb} \times Q \ w;; \frac{CxD}{TM3,Sb} \\ \downarrow \\ PCR \ screen \\ for the presence \\ of both \ transgenes \\ \end{array} \qquad \begin{array}{c} Q + O^{T} \ w;; \frac{BAG1, elav-GAL4}{TM3,Sb} \end{array}$$

3.21.4. Fly genotyping

Flies were placed in 200 μ l eppendorf tubes, squished with a pipette tip, and 50 μ l of squishing buffer was added. Flies were incubated for one hour at room temperature. Proteinase K was then heat inactivated at 94°C for 4 minutes. The following PCR was set up:

5 μl 10x high yield buffer (Peqlab)
1 μl of forward and reverse primer (10 μM)
1 μl of dNTPs (10 mM)
1 μl of the fly extract
1 μl of Taq polymerase
40 μl H₂O

Duration	Temperature	Cycles
2 min	94°C	1
30 sec	94°C	
30 sec	55°C	30
45 sec	72°C	
5 min	72°C	1
Hold	4°C	

The cycling conditions were:

3.21.5. Preparation of protein extracts from fly heads

10 flies were placed in an eppendorf tube, flash frozen in liquid nitrogen and vortexed at full speed for 15 seconds. Freezing and subsequent vortexing makes the fly head separate from the body. 20-25 fly heads were then put in a tube containing homogenization beads and 100 μ l RIPA buffer and homogenized using Precellys 24 homogenizer (Peqlab) for 30 seconds at 6500 rpm. Fly extracts were centrifuged for 15 minutes at 16000 x *g* in a table top centrifuge and transferred to a clean tube. Protein extracts were sonicated for 30 seconds at 40% power (SONOPULS, Bandelin electronics) and again centrifuged for 15 minutes at 16000 x *g* to get rid of all the chitinous structures. Protein extracts were then subjected to SDS-PAGE and immunoblotting.

3.21.6. Photoreceptor cell loss analysis

Two imaging methods were used to visualize rhabdomeres of the compound eye of the fly. In the first method whole flies were laterally attached to a plastic dish using transparent nail polish and imaged using a 20x water immersion objective (Zeiss) and DAPI filter settings at an Axioplan Zeiss microscope (Pichaud and Desplan, 2001; Stark and Thomas, 2004). In the second approach flies were decapitated and heads were attached to a microscope slide with nail polish (Jackson et al., 1998). The photoreceptors were visualized with a 63x oil immersion objective, white light using the same microscope.

3.22. Statistical analysis

All experiments that involved counting for statistical analysis were performed in a blind manner. All the values are presented as mean \pm standard error of the mean (SEM). For each time point and experimental condition n≥3 was used. Pairwise comparisons of values were performed by paired two-tailed Student's *t*-test. Comparisons of three or more samples were performed by one way ANOVA test.

4. RESULTS

4.1. BAG1 modulates subcellular localization of mutant huntingtin

We overexpressed N-terminal fragments of wild type (Q15) or mutant (Q117) huntingtin (htt-wt or htt-mut) in immortalized rat CSM 14.1 neuronal cells. Subcellular fractionation and immunoblotting revealed that htt-wt is localized predominantly in the cytosolic fraction (Fig. 4.1a) and gives almost no signal in the nuclear fraction, which is in line with previous reports showing that it is mainly distributed diffusely within the cytosol (DiFiglia et al., 1995; Gutekunst et al., 1995; Trottier et al., 1995). Mutant huntingtin, on the other hand, was found both in the cytosol and in the nucleus. This is also in accordance with previous studies demonstrating that nuclear accumulation leading to toxicity occurs in case of the mutant protein (Saudou et al., 1998; Peters et al., 1999). In cells stably expressing BAG1, however, nuclear htt-mut levels were decreased by about 60% when compared to wild type cells (Fig. 4.1b), an effect which could also be visualized by immunocytochemistry using an antibody directed against the polyglutamine stretch (Fig. 4.1c). In wild type cells there is a clear accumulation of htt-mut in the nucleus (Fig. 4.1c, left panel), whereas in BAG1 expressing cells the nuclear staining is markedly weaker (Fig. 4.1c, right panel). In comparison, BAG∆C, which is a deletion mutant of BAG1 lacking the BAG domain and therefore unable to bind Hsp70, does not diminish the amount of htt-mut in the nucleus (Fig. 4.1d).





CSM 14.1 cells were transfected with htt-wt or htt-mut and subjected to subcellular fractionation and immunoblotting. Htt-wt is found mainly in the cytosolic fraction (a), while htt-mut is localized both in the cytosol and in the nucleus (b). Cells stably expressing BAG1 have significantly less htt-mut in the nuclear fraction (b). The bottom graph is a densitometric quantification of three independent experiments (b, * p<0.05, Student's *t*-test). Confocal images of wild type and BAG1 stable cells transfected with htt-mut and stained with an antibody directed against the polyQ stretch (c). BAG Δ C does not prevent nuclear accumulation of htt-mut (d). Inhibition of the proteasome by MG132 (10 μ M for 12 hours) abolishes the effect BAG1 has on nuclear levels of htt-mut (e). The CSM 14.1 cells which we used for the experiments were stably transfected with BAG1 and BAG Δ C constructs, meaning they were derived from a single cell during antibiotic selection process (Kermer et al., 2002). To exclude artefacts caused by possibly unequal expression levels in different clonal cell lines, we examined htt-mut protein content by western blotting after transient transfection in wild type, stable BAG1 and stable BAG Δ C cells without documenting significant differences (Fig. 4.2a). Moreover, we compared expression levels of htt-mut on mRNA level by RT-PCR in all three cell lines and did not detect any variation (Fig. 4.2b). We also obtained identical result of htt-mut subcellular localization in a transient transfection of the nonneuronal HEK293T cell line (Fig. 4.3a), indicating that the effect is specifically due to BAG1 overexpression.



Fig. 4.2 Expression levels in CSM 14.1 wt, BAG1 and BAG Δ C (Δ C) cells are comparable. Expression levels of htt-mut protein after a transient transfection are the same among the cell lines. The graph is a densitometric quantification of three independent experiments (ANOVA test, not significant) (a). mRNA levels of transiently transfected htt-mut are similar in all three cell lines as seen by RT-PCR (b).



Fig. 4.3 BAG1 influences htt-mut subcellular localization in HEK293T cells. HEK293T cells were transfected with htt-mut and BAG1 or a mock empty vector and subjected to subcellular fractionation and immunoblotting. BAG1 decreases the amount of htt-mut in the nucleus (a). Inhibition of the proteasome by MG132 (5 μ M for 12 hours) abolishes the effect BAG1 has on nuclear levels of htt-mut (b).

There could be several explanations for the fact that BAG1 reduces the amount of htt-mut in the nucleus. Either BAG1 influences htt-mut shuttling between the cytoplasm and the nucleus, affecting nuclear import or export, or it stimulates its degradation. To test the degradation hypothesis, we blocked the proteasome by application of an inhibitor MG132 and saw that it abolishes the effect of BAG1 on nuclear levels of htt-mut (Fig. 4.1e and Fig. 4.3b), suggesting that BAG1 might indeed influence htt-mut removal by the UPS.

With regard to nucleo-cytoplasmic shuttling of huntingtin, not much is known about its mechanism. A recently published report (Bae et al., 2006) showed that mutant huntingtin fragment forms a complex with GAPDH and Siah1 prior to its nuclear import. Since BAG1 is known to bind to and inhibit Siah1 (Matsuzawa et al., 1998), it was a plausible hypothesis that BAG1 might affect htt-mut subcellular localization through inhibition of Siah1. In this regard, we detected reduced levels of endogenous Siah1 in CSM 14.1 cells stably expressing BAG1 (Fig. 4.4a). The same holds true when we co-expressed a

52

mutant of Siah1 lacking its RING domain (Siah1- Δ RING) together with BAG1 in HEK293T cells (Fig. 4.4a). BAG1 decreases the levels of endogenous Siah1 in this cell line as well as the amount of exogenous Siah1- Δ RING. We chose to use a deletion mutant of Siah1 because the full length protein is turned-over very rapidly and we could not obtain sufficient levels of expression necessary for our experiments. Siah1 is a RING-type E3 ligase for ubiquitin, and through its RING domain it is able to mediate auto-ubiquitination which leads to its degradation by the proteasome (Hara et al., 2005). As Siah1 is a short-lived protein and readily degraded by the proteasome, the effect of proteasomal inhibition on htt-mut nuclear levels described above (Fig 4.1e and Fig. 4.3b) could not only be explained by a direct effect on mutant huntingtin degradation but also be an indirect effect of accumulation of Siah1, facilitating nuclear import





CSM 14.1 cells stably expressing BAG1 have lower levels of Siah1 (a, left panel). The asterisk indicates the stably transfected flag-BAG1, which migrates slower than the endogenous BAG1. BAG1 reduces the amount of both endogenous Siah1 and overexpressed Siah1 Δ RING mutant in HEK293T cells (a, right panel). Expression of Siah1 Δ RING in HEK293T cells leads to accumulation of htt-mut in the nucleus even in the presence of BAG1 (b).

of mutant huntingtin (Fig. 4.5). To test this hypothesis, we performed subcellular fractionation experiments co-transfecting mutant huntingtin together with BAG1 and Siah1- Δ RING in HEK293T cells. We indeed observed that overexpression of Siah1- Δ RING can overcome the effect of BAG1 with more mutant huntingtin accumulating in the nucleus (Fig. 4.4b).



- Fig. 4.5 Two models of how BAG1 might reduce the amount of htt-mut in the nucleus.
 - (a) BAG1 promotes htt-mut degradation through the proteasome.
 - (b) Htt-mut forms a complex with GAPDH and Siah1 in order to enter the nucleus. BAG1 binds and inhibits Siah1, preventing htt-mut from entering the nucleus.

Since various chaperones have been shown to modulate the aggregation process of mutant huntingtin, we investigated whether BAG1 as a co-chaperone also exerts such properties. First, we expressed mutant huntingtin fused to a C-terminal eGFP and observed that it forms multiple aggregates in the cytoplasm, the perinuclear region and the nucleus, as described before (Fig 4.6a) (DiFiglia et al., 1997; Becher et al., 1998). Over time, multiple aggregates would coalesce forming one big aggresome-like inclusion localized in the perinuclear region (Fig. 4.6c) (Johnston et al., 1998; Taylor et al., 2003). Co-staining of the cells with a BAG1 antibody revealed that BAG1 is enriched in some of huntingtin aggregates (Fig. 4.6b left panel) or forms a circle around them (Fig 4.6b right panel), suggesting that it may be involved in the cellular response to mutant huntingtin aggregation (Sherman and Goldberg, 2001). These results add BAG1 as another chaperone to the list of those that are recruited to inclusion bodies formed by polyQ expansion proteins (see "Chaperone mediated neuroprotection").

We then quantified htt-mut aggregation by counting how many, out of all transfected cells, contain inclusion bodies at different times post-transfection. We observed that CSM 14.1 cells stably expressing BAG1 develop significantly less inclusion bodies at all time points investigated (Fig. 4.7a). In contrast, cells stably expressing BAG Δ C mutant did not display reduced inclusion body formation. We confirmed this *in situ* observation employing a filter retardation assay (Wanker et al., 1999). This method takes advantage of the biochemical properties of huntingtin aggregates that are detergent-insoluble. Briefly, the insoluble part of the protein lysate containing the aggregates and remaining after the centrifugation step (pellet) is resuspended in the lysis buffer, sonicated and boiled in the presence of 2% SDS. This denatures all soluble proteins, whereas the aggregates are resistant to the treatment. The samples are then filtered through a cellulose acetate membrane with 0,2 µm pore size.



Fig. 4.6 BAG1 is recruited to htt-mut inclusion bodies.

CSM 14.1 cells were transfected with htt-mut fused to eGFP and counterstained with an antibody directed against BAG1. Htt-mut_eGFP forms multiple inclusions in the cell body, the perinuclear region and the nucleus (a), which eventually coalesce to form a single inclusion body usually localized perinucleary (c). BAG1 colocalizes with htt-mut in inclusion bodies (b, left panel, arrows). Sometimes BAG1 staining was seen not directly in the inclusion but in a ring shape surrounding it (b, right panel, arrows).

All denatured soluble proteins pass through the pores of the membrane, while big aggregates are stuck onto it and can be later visualized by antibody staining. Employing this assay, we again saw that BAG1, but not BAG Δ C, decreases the amount of htt-mut aggregation (Fig. 4.7a).



Fig. 4.7 BAG1 decreases htt-mut aggregation in an Hsp70- and proteasome-dependent manner.

CSM 14.1 wt, BAG1 and BAG Δ C (Δ C) cells were transfected with htt-mut fused to eGFP. The percentage of cells that contained inclusions was obtained by counting. Cells stably expressing BAG1 are less likely to develop inclusions than wild type cells or cells stably expressing BAG Δ C mutant at all time points post-transfection (a, top). Reduction in aggregate formation can also be observed in a filter retardation assay (a, bottom), where captured aggregates were detected with an antibody directed against the polyQ stretch. Blocking the proteasome with MG132 (10 μ M, 17 hours) abolishes the effect of BAG1 on htt-mut aggregation (b). At least 400 cells were scored for each condition. The data represent mean values and SEM of three independent experiments (Student's *t*-test, *, p<0.05, **, p<0.01, a; ANOVA,*, p<0.05, b).

4.3. Increased turn-over of mutant huntingtin in the presence of BAG1

As was the case for subcellular localization of mutant huntingtin shown before, inhibition of the proteasome by MG132 abolished the effect of BAG1 on huntingtin aggregation (Fig 4.7b), pointing again to the possibility that BAG1 facilitates the degradation of mutant huntingtin. Furthermore, by coimmunoprecipitation, we were able to show that BAG1 interacts with the α 7 subunit of the proteasomal core (Fig. 4.8), what confirms a report that BAG1 associates with the proteasome through its ubiquitin-like domain (Luders et al., 2000).



Fig. 4.8 BAG1 interacts with the α 7 subunit of the proteasomal core particle.

HEK293T cells were transfected with flag-BAG1 or a mock empty vector. Cell lysates were subjected to co-immunoprecipitation using flag-affinity beads (flag IP), followed by immunoblotting. The membranes were probed with antibodies against BAG1 or the α 7 proteasomal subunit. First two lanes show the input from cells transfected with an empty vector control of flag-BAG1. The α 7 proteasomal subunit is pulled down by flag-BAG1. No α 7 is detected after immunoprecipitation in the negative control.

To substantiate our results obtained with the proteasomal inhibitor MG132 and to investigate whether BAG1 can indeed directly influence htt-mut degradation, we performed a cycloheximide chase experiment. Cycloheximide is a bacterial inhibitor of eukaryotic protein translation frequently used to determine the half-life of proteins *in vitro*. We observed that htt-mut is indeed cleared faster in cells stably expressing BAG1 with a half-life of ~3,3 hours, as compared to wild type cells in which it had a half-life of ~4,9 hours (Fig. 4.9a, b).





CSM 14.1 wt, BAG1 or BAG Δ C (Δ C) cells were transiently transfected with htt-mut. ~17 hours post-transfection, cycloheximide (chx) was added at 10 µg/ml for indicated time periods. Httmut is degraded faster in BAG1 cells, as compared to wild type cells. The presence of BAG Δ C stabilizes htt-mut (a, left panel). Transient co-expression of htt-mut together with mock empty vector (ϕ), BAG1 or BAG Δ C construct in HEK293T cells confirms the result obtained in CSM 14.1 cells (a, right panel). Endogenous BAG1 as well as the overexpressed flag-BAG1 levels do not decrease over the time course of the chx chase (a). Three independent experiments were quantified by densitometry (b, ANOVA, *, p<0.05; CSM 14.1 cells). HEK293T cells were transfected with htt-mut, BAG1 and His-ubiquitin (His-Ub) and subjected to nickel beads pulldown (His IP), followed by immunoblotting. The membrane was stained with an antibody against the polyQ stretch, revealing that BAG1 does not affect ubiquitination of htt-mut (c). Ub conj., ubiquitin conjugates.

BAG1 itself, on the other hand, appears to be a stable protein with its levels steady over the time course of the chase experiment. Interestingly, in the presence of BAG Δ C htt-mut seemed to be even more stable (half-life ~9,5 hours) than in wild type cells, what correlates with previous results from our laboratory where BAG Δ C appeared to have a dominant negative effect on protein folding (Liman et al., 2005). Again, we obtained identical results on huntingtin turn-over in transiently transfected HEK293T cells (4.9a, right). To investigate whether BAG1 changes the ubiquitination levels of mutant huntingtin, we transfected HEK293T cells with htt-mut, His-tagged ubiquitin and BAG1 or mock empty vector and performed affinity precipitation with nickel

beads. The beads bind to the His tag on ubiquitin and enable to precipitate free ubiquitin as well as all ubiquitinated proteins. In immunoblotting against httmut we observed a typical ladder formed by htt-mut with covalently attached ubiquitin chains of different length (Fig. 4.9c). The intensity of the staining did not change with addition of BAG1, meaning that it does not affect htt-mut ubiquitination and the enhanced degradation of htt-mut is mediated through a different mechanism.

4.4. BAG1 is protective in a cell culture model of HD

Enhanced degradation of mutant huntingtin together with its decreased aggregation and nuclear translocation in the presence of BAG1 suggested that BAG1 may be neuroprotective in HD. To test this hypothesis, we expressed BAG1 in striatal huntingtin knock-in cell lines, STHdh⁺ and STHdh^{Q111} (Trettel et al., 2000). These cell lines were developed by immortalization of embryonic striatal neurons derived either from wild type or transgenic mice, where an expanded polyglutamine chain was knocked into the murine huntingtin homologue gene (*Hdh*) (Wheeler et al., 2000). The cells were immortalized by transfection with temperature sensitive tsA58 SV40 large T antigen and are maintained at the permissive temperature of 32°C (Cattaneo and Conti, 1998). Once transferred to the non-permissive temperature of 39°C, the SV40 tsA58 protein is degraded and cells cease to proliferate with increased susceptibility to mutant huntingtin toxicity. We stably transfected these cell lines with BAG1 or a mock empty vector and tested whether overexpression of BAG1 can change their susceptibility to cell death at 39°C. Seven days after shifting the cells from 32°C to 39°C, STHdh^{Q111} but not STHdh⁺ cells show a 50% decrease in viability. STHdh^{Q111} cells stably expressing BAG1 were protected from cell death, showing resistance similar to wild type STHdh⁺ cells (Fig. 4.10).



Fig. 4.10 BAG1 protects striatal cells from death induced by mutant huntingtin toxicity. STHdh⁺ and STHdh^{Q111} were stably transfected with BAG1 or a control empty vector (mock). Following shift to non-permissive temperature (39°C), the cells cease to proliferate. STHdh^{Q111} cells are then vulnerable to mutant huntingtin (Q111) toxicity. After 7 days at 39°C, mock transfected STHdh^{Q111} show 50% cell loss, which is prevented by stable expression of BAG1. The data represent mean values and SEM of three independent experiments (ANOVA, **, p<0.01).

4.5. BAG1 is protective in a D. melanogaster model of HD

We were then interested whether BAG1 displays any relevance for HD pathology *in vivo*. To this end, we employed a *D. melanogaster* model of HD, where expression of exon1 of mutant huntingtin with 93 glutamines (httQ93) leads to degeneration of the eye (Steffan et al., 2001). The compound eye of the fly consists of a regular array of hexagonal ommatidia. In wild type animals each ommatidium has 8 photoreceptor cells (7 of them visible) called rhabdomeres, arranged in a stereotypical trapezoid (Ready et al., 1976; Pichaud and Desplan, 2001). Flies expressing exon 1 of mutant huntingtin in all neuronal cells display a progressive degenerative phenotype manifested as a loss of rhabdomeres and their regular structure within an ommatidium (Fig. 4.11), which can serve as an assessment of huntingtin toxicity (Jackson et al., 1998).

We created BAG1 transgenic flies and crossed them with httQ93 flies, taking advantage of the UAS-GAL4 system which enables expression of the gene of choice in the tissue of interest of the fly. The target gene is cloned

Results

downstream of a UAS (upstream activation sequence), which is a target sequence of the yeast transcription factor GAL4. The transgenic fly is then crossed to a fly having the *GAL4* gene downstream of an endogenous tissuespecific fly promoter. The endogenous promoter drives the expression of GAL4, which in turn drives the expression of the transgene (Phelps and Brand, 1998). Since the system requires to cross two different transgenic lines, and for our experiment we needed to combine three (elav-GAL4, httQ93 and BAG1), it was necessary to recombine BAG1 flies with elav-GAL4 flies, so that both transgenes are located on the same chromosome.



Fig. 4.11 Expression of exon1 of mutant huntingtin (httQ93) in neuronal cells of *D. melanogaster* leads to degeneration in the fly eye. Ten days post-eclosion, control flies have 7 regularly arranged rhabdomeres (photoreceptor cells) per each ommatidium. Expression of httQ93 under the control of the *elav-GAL4* driver leads to a reduction in rhabdomere numbers.

At day 10 following eclosion, httQ93 flies show a marked loss of rhabdomere numbers and disruption of their pattern which was visibly alleviated when mutant huntingtin was co-expressed with BAG1, as double transgenic flies had higher numbers of rhabdomeres per ommatidium and their organization resembled that of control flies (Fig 4.12a,b). To assure that this protective effect was not due to titration of the driver protein GAL4, which would then lead to a decrease in the amount of both transcripts by half and reduce huntingtin toxicity, we checked the expression levels of BAG1 by western blotting, comparing BAG1 flies to those co-expressing BAG1 with httQ93 and found no difference (Fig. 4.12c). This indicates that the alleviation of httQ93 toxicity was not due to decreased expression levels of transgenic proteins but a direct effect of BAG1.



Fig. 4.12 BAG1 protects from httQ93 toxicity in *D. melanogaster* and reduces httQ93 protein levels.

The flies were analyzed at day 10 post-eclosion. Expression of httQ93 under the control of the pan-neuronal driver *elav-GAL4* leads to degeneration of the fly eye as seen by rhabdomere loss and disruption of their regular structure. Double transgenic flies, expressing BAG1 together with httQ93, are substantially protected from httQ93 toxicity. Representative photographs of ommatidia from control (*elav-GAL4*), httQ93 and httQ93/BAG1 flies (a). Quantification of the number of rhabdomeres per ommatidium in httQ93 and httQ93/BAG1 flies (b, at least 200 ommatidia were scored for each condition). The expression levels of BAG1 protein in fly heads of BAG1 flies and BAG1/httQ93 flies are the same (c). However, double transgenic flies have lower httQ93 levels compared to flies expressing httQ93 alone (d).

Since we observed that BAG1 decreases the half-life of htt-mut in cell culture, we wanted to check if this is the case in flies as well. We found that the expression level of httQ93 is lower in the presence of BAG1 (Fig. 4.12d). This suggests that the protective mechanism of BAG1 in this fly model of HD might be mediated via proteasomal degradation of the toxic protein.

To confirm our results, we performed another experiment using a different strain of flies with the *elav-GAL4* driver located on the first chromosome and employing a strategy to by-pass the recombination step, which in itself might create artefacts (Fig. 4.13). As an additional control we chose eGFP transgenic flies. Compared to the previous cross, in which *elav-GAL4* was on the third chromosome, the httQ93 phenotype is milder when induced by *elav-GAL4* on the first chromosome. Also with this approach BAG1 ameliorates httQ93-induced photoreceptor cell loss (Fig. 4.14). In contrast to BAG1/httQ93 flies, those expressing eGFP together with httQ93 were not protected from toxicity, as revealed by rhabdomere counting, confirming BAG1 specific conservation of the eye structure.



Fig. 4.13 Two crossing schemes used to generate double transgenic flies (a, b). Chromosomes are separated by semicolons. P- parental generation, F1, F2- first and second filial generations, + indicates a wild type chromosome, w, "white" gene.



Fig. 4.14 BAG1, but not eGFP, protects from httQ93-induced eye degeneration in *D.melanogaster*.

Representative photographs of ommatidia from httQ93, httQ93/eGFP and httQ93/BAG1 flies 10 days post-eclosion (a). The loss of rhabdomeres in flies expressing httQ93 is ameliorated by co-expression of BAG1. Co-expression of eGFP does not mitigate the httQ93 phenotype (b, at least 200 ommatidia were scored for each condition).

5. DISCUSSION

This study was performed to evaluate the potentially beneficial effect of the cochaperone BAG1 in various paradigms of mutant huntingtin toxicity. Moreover, it was the focus of this project to unravel the mechanisms underlying its putative effect. BAG1 is a multifunctional protein critical for the nervous system development and regeneration (Kermer et al., 2002; Kermer et al., 2003; Gotz et al., 2005). It provides a link between cell cycle, apoptosis, stress response and protein degradation (Takayama et al., 1995; Demand et al., 2001; Song et al., 2001). An interaction with mutant huntingtin fragment has already been suggested (Jana and Nukina, 2005). However, the relevance of BAG1 for HD pathophysiology and its mechanism of action have not yet been elucidated.

5.1. Nuclear localization of mutant huntingtin

We discovered that BAG1 substantially decreases the amount of mutant huntingtin in the nucleus. This appears important considering the evidence that nuclear translocation of huntingtin is a critical event for its cytotoxicity (Saudou et al., 1998). Adding a nuclear localization signal to mutant huntingtin fragment leads to increased toxicity, while a nuclear export signal decreases it in cell culture (Peters et al., 1999). Likewise, nuclear targeting of mutant huntingtin in mice exacerbates their phenotype (Benn et al., 2005). It is thought that the presence of mutant huntingtin fragment in the nucleus can disrupt the transcriptional profile of striatal neurons through interactions with transcription factors (Sugars and Rubinsztein, 2003; Thomas, 2006; Truant et al., 2007). On the other hand, the presence of mutant huntingtin in the cytosol undoubtedly contributes to its toxicity by influencing axonal transport, protein folding, synaptic transmission and mitochondrial function (Muchowski, 2002; Gunawardena et al., 2003; Szebenyi et al., 2003; Browne and Beal, 2004; Smith et al., 2005; Gidalevitz et al., 2006). Nonetheless, it is a well established fact that nuclear translocation is crucial for the disease pathology. Decreasing the amount of mutant huntingtin in the nucleus could therefore provide a promising therapeutic strategy.

Investigating how BAG1 actually decreases htt-mut nuclear content, we found that blocking the proteasome by a pharmacological inhibitor abolishes this effect. In this regard, BAG1 has already been implicated in the proteasomal pathway as a protein that binds the proteasome through its ubiquitin-like domain (Luders et al., 2000; Alberti et al., 2002) and targets substrate proteins for degradation (Demand et al., 2001). Hence, our observation of increased huntingtin turn-over in the presence of BAG1 is plausible. The degradation could occur either directly in the nucleus or in the cytoplasm, before the mutant protein is transported to the nucleus, or both.

Alternatively, BAG1 could act by changing htt-mut shuttling between the cytoplasm and the nucleus. The mechanisms by which huntingtin is transported to and from the nucleus still remain obscure. Huntingtin has a conserved C-terminal nuclear export signal (Fig. 1.1) which is cleaved away when it is processed by cellular proteases (Xia et al., 2003). Short N-terminal fragments that are pathogenic in HD models are probably small enough to pass through the nuclear pore by passive diffusion (Stewart et al., 2001). Nevertheless, abnormal accumulation of mutant huntingtin in the nucleus suggests that there is an active component involved. It has been shown that the N-terminus of huntingtin interacts with nuclear pore protein TPR (translocated promoter region) which is involved in nuclear export and that polyglutamine chain expansion decreases this interaction, leading to nuclear accumulation of mutant huntingtin (Cornett et al., 2005). Regarding nuclear import, it was recently reported that Siah1 is involved in this process. Siah1 is a proapoptotic E3-type ubiquitin ligase activated by the p53 transcription factor (Amson et al., 1996; Hu and Fearon, 1999; Roperch et al., 1999; Reed and Ely, 2002). It contains a nuclear localization signal and was found to form a complex together with mutant huntingtin fragment and GAPDH, which then translocates to the

67

nucleus and induces cell death (Fig. 4.4) (Bae et al., 2005; Hara et al., 2005). BAG1 is known to bind and inhibit Siah1, and it could decrease htt-mut nuclear content by counteracting the effect of Siah1 (Matsuzawa et al., 1998). Siah1 is an unstable protein which self-ubiquitinates resulting in its degradation by the proteasome. To overcome this experimental limitation, we created a deletion mutant of Siah1 lacking the RING domain necessary for its ubiquitin ligase activity (Freemont, 2000). Using this mutant we found that overexpression of Siah1 overcomes the effect of BAG1 on htt-mut subcellular localization. Also, BAG1 decreases both the overexpressed Siah1ΔRING as well as the endogenous Siah1 levels. Thus, our results suggest that BAG1 could reduce htt-mut localization by three distinct mechanisms:

- · targeting of htt-mut for degradation via the UPS
- binding and inhibiting Siah1
- targeting of Siah1 for degradation via the UPS

Nevertheless, it remains difficult to discern between these three options. Proteasomal inhibition obviously affects the expression levels of both htt-mut and Siah1. One could use a BAG1 N-terminal deletion mutant which retains the ability to bind to Siah1 *in vitro* but lacks its UBL domain and is, therefore, unlikely to still play a role in substrate delivery to the proteasome (Matsuzawa et al., 1998). Unfortunately, attempts to create such a mutant were unsuccessful and resulted in a very unstable protein in our hands. An alternative solution would be to search for a point mutant of BAG1 that does not bind the proteasome. Another BAG1 mutant that was employed in our study, BAGΔC lacking the C-terminal BAG domain, did not prevent nuclear accumulation of htt-mut. In line with our hypothesis, this mutant does not interact with Siah1 anymore (Matsuzawa et al., 1998). However, the deletion also abolishes its binding to Hsp70 (Takayama et al., 1997) and mutant huntingtin fragment (Jana and Nukina, 2005). One cannot, therefore, draw straightforward conclusions since lack of activity of BAGΔC could result from disruption of any of the interactions listed above.

5.2. Mutant huntingtin aggregation is decreased in the presence of BAG1

We observed that BAG1 overexpression leads to a decrease in the amount of htt-mut aggregation as revealed by counting single cells containing inclusion bodies and a biochemical filter retardation assay. Furthermore, BAG1 colocalized with htt-mut eGFP inclusion bodies or was found in a rim surrounding them. This was not particularly surprising since many components of the chaperone system were found in misfolded proteins inclusion bodies and could influence their aggregation [see "Chaperone mediated neuroprotection" in the Introduction and (Muchowski and Wacker, 2005)]. Originally, aggregation was considered to be a random process resulting from unspecific interactions of non-native proteins that have a tendency to "stick together" (Lansbury, 1997). Recently, it has become evident that protein aggregation is a very specific phenomenon driven not solely by the inherent tendency of misfolded proteins to agglomerate but that it is a regulated process through which the cell tries to sequester deleterious proteins as a protection mechanism (Johnston et al., 1998; Garcia-Mata et al., 1999; Rajan et al., 2001). Expression of a mutant protein or inhibition of the proteasome leads to an accumulation of misfolded ubiquitinated proteins. They form microaggregates that are then transported along microtubules to the microtubule organizing centre (MTOC), where they form one big inclusion termed aggresome (Kopito, 2000; Muchowski et al., 2002). Inside the nucleus, aggregates are also localized to a specific subcompartment called promyelocytic leukemia (PML) body (Anton et al., 1999; Takahashi et al., 2003). The formation of aggresomes is an active process that requires intact microtubule skeleton, chaperones and the UPS components. It is assumed that inclusion body formation is a way the cell tries to separate toxic proteins in a compartment serving as a temporary "storage room" until non-native peptides can be refolded or degraded. It was shown that cells have ways to efficiently remove inclusions once the proteasomal impairment or the supply of mutant protein ceases (Anton et al., 1999; Yamamoto et al., 2000). In our cellular system we observed that overexpression of eGFP tagged httmut results in formation of multiple small aggregates in the cytoplasm and the nucleus which with time grew bigger and frequently formed a single aggresomelike inclusion in the vicinity of the nucleus. The presence of BAG1 in those inclusions suggests that it is a part of the chaperone response activated in order to remove the toxic protein. Trying to elucidate the mechanism of how BAG1 reduces the amount of htt-mut aggregation, we used its mutant lacking the C-terminal Hsp70 binding BAG domain (BAG Δ C) and documented that it does not protect from inclusion body formation. This could indicate that BAG1 can assist Hsp70 in refolding of htt-mut. On the other hand, we also observed that blocking of the proteasome completely abolishes the effect BAG1 has on htt-mut aggregation, suggesting that BAG1 might promote htt-mut degradation. That way the mutant protein would be removed before it is able to accumulate and form inclusion bodies.

5.3. BAG1 stimulates mutant huntingtin degradation

Showing that BAG1 influence on htt-mut subcellular localization and aggregation can be overcome by inhibition of the proteasome and that BAG1 can associate with the proteasome, we sought to find out whether it directly affects htt-mut degradation. In a cycloheximide chase experiment we observed that htt-mut is removed faster in the presence of excess BAG1, although its ubiquitination levels are unaffected. BAG1 itself appears to be quite stable, what correlates with a report that BAG1 association with the proteasome does not result in its degradation (Alberti et al., 2002). BAG1 was previously shown to enhance Hsp70 association with the proteasome, accept ubiquitinated glucocorticoid hormone receptor from Hsp70 and enhance its degradation, acting together with CHIP ubiquitin ligase (Luders et al., 2000; Demand et al., 2001). BAG1 binds to Hsc70 and leads to a conformational change in its ATPase domain, which results in substrate release (Gassler et al., 2001; Sondermann et al., 2001). Here, we show for the first time that overexpression of BAG1 alone can lead to faster degradation of a misfolded protein. It is

plausible that htt-mut is first recognized and bound by a chaperone of the Hsp70 family. Binding of BAG1 to Hsp70 targets htt-mut to the proteasomal complex and induces its release, so that it can be degraded.

Several components of the UPS, E3 ubiquitin ligases in particular, were shown before to be able to stimulate degradation of polyQ expansion proteins and reduce their toxicity (Jana et al., 2005; Al-Ramahi et al., 2006; Yang et al., 2007; Mishra et al., 2008). The example of BAG1 is the first to show enhanced degradation of htt-mut by a different mechanism than increase in ubiquitination, i.e. targeting to the proteasome.

Intriguingly, expression of BAG Δ C mutant, which still contains the UBL domain that mediates proteasomal association but is unable to bind to Hsp70, results in stabilization of htt-mut. This is reminiscent of the previously reported dominant negative effect of BAG Δ C mutant on folding of a fluorescent chaperone sensor (Liman et al., 2005). The inability of BAG Δ C to degrade htt-mut would suggest that BAG1 acts in a complex that presumably involves a chaperone of the Hsp70 family to efficiently target substrates to the proteasome. However, why would the expression of BAG Δ C have a negative effect on mutant huntingtin fragment degradation? Since it still binds to the proteasome, one possible explanation is a physical obstruction of access to the "docking station" for the chaperone complex.

5.4. BAG1 protects from mutant huntingtin toxicity in vitro and in vivo

It is well accepted that mutant huntingtin must translocate to the nucleus in order to induce cell death (Saudou et al., 1998), and we observed that BAG1 can reduce htt-mut nuclear levels. This, together with the ability of BAG1 to promote htt-mut degradation, suggested that BAG1 could ameliorate mutant huntingtin toxicity. We confirmed this hypothesis using a cell culture and a *D. melanogaster* model of HD. The cellular model we used originates from striatal

neurons isolated from genetically engineered mice in which an expanded polyQ chain was knocked-in to the murine huntingtin homologue gene (Trettel et al., 2000). It, therefore, expresses full-length huntingtin as opposed to the truncated fragment we used for the previous experiments. We established stably transfected lines expressing BAG1 and documented that it can rescue the cells from toxicity induced by mutant huntingtin. We confirmed this result in vivo, for which we chose D. melanogaster as a model organism. The expression of polyQ expanded proteins in the nervous system of Drosophila leads to a neurodegenerative phenotype in the eye, which can be evaluated using a simple imaging method. We generated BAG1 transgenic flies and crossed them with flies expressing exon1 of mutant huntingtin (httQ93). As hypothesized, BAG1, but not eGFP control, leads to a marked improvement of the eye structure. Furthermore, BAG1 seems to decrease the amount of httQ93 on the protein level suggesting that BAG1 neuroprotection is mediated by its ability to stimulate mutant huntingtin degradation also in vivo. This would reconcile the effect BAG1 has on htt-mut aggregation with its neuroprotective function. Inclusion body formation has been shown to actually promote striatal cell survival, and the levels of diffuse soluble huntingtin correlate with cell death (Arrasate et al., 2004). However, it appears that BAG1 reduction of inclusion body formation is mediated through its ability to target the mutant protein for degradation, thereby preventing htt-mut aggregation by removing the monomeric species rather than resolubilizing already existing aggregates.

5.5. Potential therapeutic implications

It is clear from numerous studies conducted in recent years that stimulation of the protein quality control system, which comprises chaperones and the degradation machinery, is so far the most potent strategy of suppressing neurodegeneration in laboratory models of human diseases. Accumulation of misfolded proteins underlies several neurodegenerative disorders, including Alzheimer's disease, Parkinson's disease, Huntington's disease, and other

72
polyQ expansion diseases. Although they all affect different populations of neurons and lead to toxicity through distinct mechanism, they all share the feature of abnormally folded proteins that form ubiquitinated inclusions. It is thought that protein misfolding is particularly harmful for neuronal cells since they are unable to dilute the load of toxic proteins through cell division. Additionally, it was observed that senescent cell cultures and aged organisms as well as human tissue have a reduced ability to activate heat shock proteins in response to various stressful stimuli (Rattan and Derventzi, 1991; Heydari et al., 1994; Locke and Tanguay, 1996; Muramatsu et al., 1996). Also, the protein degradation systems, the lysosome pathway and the ubiquitin-proteasome pathway, have a reduced capacity associated with aging (Shang et al., 1997; Cuervo and Dice, 1998). The functional decline of the protein quality control mechanisms seen in aging might account for the late onset (middle age or later) of the above mentioned neurodegenerative diseases. It appears that for many years neurons are actually able to deal with misfolded proteins until their defenses are weakened by age, and the toxic protein accumulates above a critical threshold. Thus, stimulating the chaperone machinery and the degradation pathway seem to be a promising therapeutic avenue.

Here, we present the multifunctional protein BAG1 as a protective therapeutic strategy in HD models acting by association with Hsp70 to stimulate the degradation of mutant huntingtin fragment via the UPS. Furthermore, we uncovered inhibition of Siah1 as an alternative way - besides increased proteasomal turn-over - through which BAG1 could decrease the amount of mutant huntingtin in the nucleus and protect from mutant huntingtin toxicity. What makes BAG1 a particularly interesting therapeutic target is the fact that in addition to promoting degradation of misfolded proteins it can also prevent cell death (Takayama et al., 1995; Danen-van Oorschot et al., 1997; Kermer et al., 2002). Furthermore, BAG1 is an established activator of the Raf-1 signaling pathway, which acting through ERK, results in synaptic plasticity, long term potentiation and cell survival in response to stressful stimuli (Grewal et al.,

1999). Recent observations in our laboratory indicate that BAG1 is a potent inducer of axonal outgrowth after axotomy (Planchamp et al., in revision). This quality is particularly important with regard to diseases affecting the nervous system, where preservation of the cell body is not sufficient to maintain the function of neurons and treatments that combine cell death prevention and axonal regeneration would be most valuable.

However, as much as BAG1 and other components of the protein quality control system seem to be promising therapeutic targets, one has to be aware of the possible side effects of such potential treatments. All proteins that affect cell cycle and prevent apoptosis might induce malignancy, and BAG1 is indeed found over-expressed in some cancers (Cutress et al., 2002; Mosser and Morimoto, 2004; Dahlmann, 2007). Further studies leading to a more detailed understanding of the protein quality control in neurodegenerative disorders and a delicate balance of chaperones will be necessary to achieve a desired therapeutic effect.

6. SUMMARY

Huntington's disease (HD) is a fatal neurodegenerative disorder resulting from an expansion of a polyglutamine stretch in a ubiquitously expressed protein called huntingtin. Intraneuronal inclusion body formation and accumulation of mutant huntingtin N-terminal fragments in the nucleus are the pathological hallmarks of the disease. It is thought that nuclear localization of mutant huntingtin leads to toxicity, while inclusion body formation exerts a beneficial function of sequestering the toxic fragment.

We evaluated the effect of the co-chaperone BAG1 on mutant huntingtin toxicity and investigated its mechanism of action. BAG1 is a multifunctional protein, delivering chaperone-recognized substrates to the proteasome for degradation. It is essential for proper CNS development, it stimulates neuronal differentiation and protects from a variety of apoptotic insults. Here, we show that BAG1 reduces inclusion body formation and accelerates the degradation of mutant huntingtin in a proteasome- and Hsp70-dependent manner. Moreover, it inhibits translocation of mutant huntingtin into the nucleus. This effect can be overcome by overexpression of Siah-1, an E3-ligase negatively regulated by BAG1 and known to be involved in nuclear import of mutant huntingtin. In addition, we observed that BAG1 leads to decreased cellular levels of Siah1. Finally, BAG1 protects from mutant huntingtin-induced cell death in vitro and in vivo. In a Drosophila HD model BAG1 significantly ameliorates photoreceptor cell loss and leads to decreased levels of mutant huntingtin fragment. In summary, we present BAG1 as a novel therapeutic tool modulating key steps of huntingtin toxicity *in vitro* and ameliorating huntingtin toxicity in vivo.

7. ABBREVIATIONS

A adenine

aa amino acid AAA ATPases associated with a variety of cellular activities **ADP** adenosine diphosphate Atg autophagy-related gene **ATP** adenosine 5'-triphosphate **BAG1** Bcl-2 associated athanogene Bcl-2 B cell lymphoma 2 **BDNF** brain derived neurotrophic factor **BSA** bovine serum albumin **C** cytosine °C degree Celsius **CCT** cytosolic chaperonin Cdk5 cyclin-dependent kinase 5 cDNA complementary DNA C. elegans Caenorhabditis elegans **CHIP** carboxyl terminus of Hsc70-interacting protein chx cycloheximide **CNS** central nervous system CREB cAMP response element-binding C-terminus carboxy-terminus DAPI 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole **dATP** deoxyadenosine triphosphate **dCTP** deoxycytidine triphosphate **dGTP** deoxyguanosine triphosphate **dNTP** deoxyribonucleotide triphosphate dTTP deoxythymidine triphosphate **D. melanogaster** Drosophila melanogaster **DMEM** Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium DMSO dimethyl sulfoxide **DNA** deoxyribonucleic acid E6-AP E6-associated protein **ECL** enhanced chemiluminescence E.coli Escherichia coli EDTA ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid eGFP enhanced green fluorescent protein

elav embryonic lethal, abnormal vision ER endoplasmic reticulum ERK extracellular signal-regulated kinase FBS foetal bovine serum **G** guanine **GAPDH** glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase h hour H2B histone 2B **HD** Huntington's disease Hdh Huntington's disease gene homologue **HEK** human embryonic kidney **HIP1** huntingtin interacting protein 1 **HIPPI** HIP1 protein interactor HRP horseradish peroxidase Hsp heat shock protein htt huntingtin htt-mut mutant huntingtin htt-wt wild type huntingtin **JNK** c-Jun N-terminal kinase kDa kilodalton I liter LB Luria Bertani Lys lysine M mole m milli **MAP** mitogen-activated protein MAPK mitogen-activated protein kinase

MDa megadalton

MEK MAP/ERK kinase

MEKK MEK kinase

min minute

MKK MAP kinase kinase

MTOC microtubule organizing centre

n nano

µI micro

mTOR mammalian target of rapamycin

NII neuronal intranuclear inclusion

Ni-NTA nickel nitrilo-triacetic acid

NMDA N-methyl-D-aspartic acid

NRSF neuronal restrictive silencing factor

N-terminus amino-terminus

OD optical density

P proline

PBS phosphate buffered saline

PCR polymerase chain reaction

PGC-1 α peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor- γ coactivator 1 α

PFA paraformaldehyde

PI3K phosphoinositide-3 kinase

PIPES 1,4-piperazinediethanesulfonic acid

PML promyelocytic leukemia

PSD-95 postsynaptic density-95

Q glutamine

REST RE1-silencing transcription factor

RING really interesting new gene

RIPA radioimmuno precipitation assay

RNA ribonucleic acid

RT-PCR reverse transcription PCR

SAPK stress-activated protein kinase

sec second

SEM standard error of the mean

Siah1 seven in absentia homologue 1

SDS sodium dodecyl sulphate

SDS-PAGE sodium dodecyl sulphate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis

TBE Tris-Borate-EDTA

TBP TATA-binding protein

TBS Tris-buffered saline

TEMED tetramethylethylenediamine

TPR translocated promoter region

TRiC tail-less complex polypeptide 1 ring complex

Tris trishydroxymethylaminomethane

TFIID transcription factor II D

UAS upstream activating sequence

UBL ubiquitin-like

UPS ubiquitin-proteasome system

V volt

v/v volume/volume percentage

VCP valosin-containing protein

8. REFERENCES

- Al-Ramahi, I., Lam, Y. C., Chen, H. K., de Gouyon, B., Zhang, M., Perez, A. M., Branco, J., de Haro, M., Patterson, C., Zoghbi, H. Y. and Botas, J. (2006).
 "CHIP protects from the neurotoxicity of expanded and wild-type ataxin-1 and promotes their ubiquitination and degradation." J Biol Chem 281(36): 26714-24.
- Alberti, S., Demand, J., Esser, C., Emmerich, N., Schild, H. and Hohfeld, J. (2002). "Ubiquitylation of BAG-1 suggests a novel regulatory mechanism during the sorting of chaperone substrates to the proteasome." <u>J Biol Chem</u> 277(48): 45920-7.
- Altar, C. A., Cai, N., Bliven, T., Juhasz, M., Conner, J. M., Acheson, A. L., Lindsay, R. M. and Wiegand, S. J. (1997). "Anterograde transport of brain-derived neurotrophic factor and its role in the brain." <u>Nature</u> **389**(6653): 856-60.
- Amson, R. B., Nemani, M., Roperch, J. P., Israeli, D., Bougueleret, L., Le Gall, I., Medhioub, M., Linares-Cruz, G., Lethrosne, F., Pasturaud, P., Piouffre, L., Prieur, S., Susini, L., Alvaro, V., Millasseau, P., Guidicelli, C., Bui, H., Massart, C., Cazes, L., Dufour, F., Bruzzoni-Giovanelli, H., Owadi, H., Hennion, C., Charpak, G., Telerman, A. and et al. (1996). "Isolation of 10 differentially expressed cDNAs in p53-induced apoptosis: activation of the vertebrate homologue of the drosophila seven in absentia gene." <u>Proc Natl</u> <u>Acad Sci U S A</u> 93(9): 3953-7.
- Andrade, M. A. and Bork, P. (1995). "HEAT repeats in the Huntington's disease protein." Nat Genet 11(2): 115-6.
- Andrew, S. E., Goldberg, Y. P., Kremer, B., Telenius, H., Theilmann, J., Adam, S., Starr, E., Squitieri, F., Lin, B., Kalchman, M. A. and et al. (1993). "The relationship between trinucleotide (CAG) repeat length and clinical features of Huntington's disease." <u>Nat Genet</u> **4**(4): 398-403.
- Anton, L. C., Schubert, U., Bacik, I., Princiotta, M. F., Wearsch, P. A., Gibbs, J., Day, P. M., Realini, C., Rechsteiner, M. C., Bennink, J. R. and Yewdell, J. W. (1999). "Intracellular localization of proteasomal degradation of a viral antigen." <u>J Cell Biol</u> **146**(1): 113-24.
- Apostol, B. L., Illes, K., Pallos, J., Bodai, L., Wu, J., Strand, A., Schweitzer, E. S., Olson, J. M., Kazantsev, A., Marsh, J. L. and Thompson, L. M. (2006).
 "Mutant huntingtin alters MAPK signaling pathways in PC12 and striatal cells: ERK1/2 protects against mutant huntingtin-associated toxicity." <u>Hum</u> <u>Mol Genet</u> 15(2): 273-85.
- Arrasate, M., Mitra, S., Schweitzer, E. S., Segal, M. R. and Finkbeiner, S. (2004). "Inclusion body formation reduces levels of mutant huntingtin and the risk of neuronal death." <u>Nature</u> **431**(7010): 805-10.
- Attfield, P. V. (1987). "Trehalose accumulates in Saccharomyces cerevisiae during exposure to agents that induce heat shock response." <u>FEBS Lett</u> **225**(1-2): 259-63.
- Auluck, P. K., Chan, H. Y., Trojanowski, J. Q., Lee, V. M. and Bonini, N. M. (2002). "Chaperone suppression of alpha-synuclein toxicity in a Drosophila model for Parkinson's disease." <u>Science</u> **295**(5556): 865-8.
- Bae, B. I., Hara, M. R., Cascio, M. B., Wellington, C. L., Hayden, M. R., Ross, C. A., Ha, H. C., Li, X. J., Snyder, S. H. and Sawa, A. (2006). "Mutant huntingtin: nuclear translocation and cytotoxicity mediated by GAPDH." <u>Proc Natl Acad</u> <u>Sci U S A</u> 103(9): 3405-9.

- Bae, B. I., Xu, H., Igarashi, S., Fujimuro, M., Agrawal, N., Taya, Y., Hayward, S.
 D., Moran, T. H., Montell, C., Ross, C. A., Snyder, S. H. and Sawa, A.
 (2005). "p53 mediates cellular dysfunction and behavioral abnormalities in Huntington's disease." <u>Neuron</u> 47(1): 29-41.
- Bailey, C. K., Andriola, I. F., Kampinga, H. H. and Merry, D. E. (2002). "Molecular chaperones enhance the degradation of expanded polyglutamine repeat androgen receptor in a cellular model of spinal and bulbar muscular atrophy." <u>Hum Mol Genet</u> **11**(5): 515-23.
- Baquet, Z. C., Gorski, J. A. and Jones, K. R. (2004). "Early striatal dendrite deficits followed by neuron loss with advanced age in the absence of anterograde cortical brain-derived neurotrophic factor." <u>J Neurosci</u> 24(17): 4250-8.
- Bardelli, A., Longati, P., Albero, D., Goruppi, S., Schneider, C., Ponzetto, C. and Comoglio, P. M. (1996). "HGF receptor associates with the anti-apoptotic protein BAG-1 and prevents cell death." <u>Embo J</u> 15(22): 6205-12.
- Baxendale, S., Abdulla, S., Elgar, G., Buck, D., Berks, M., Micklem, G., Durbin, R., Bates, G., Brenner, S. and Beck, S. (1995). "Comparative sequence analysis of the human and pufferfish Huntington's disease genes." <u>Nat Genet</u> **10**(1): 67-76.
- Beal, M. F., Hyman, B. T. and Koroshetz, W. (1993). "Do defects in mitochondrial energy metabolism underlie the pathology of neurodegenerative diseases?" <u>Trends Neurosci</u> 16(4): 125-31.
- Becher, M. W., Kotzuk, J. A., Sharp, A. H., Davies, S. W., Bates, G. P., Price, D. L. and Ross, C. A. (1998). "Intranuclear neuronal inclusions in Huntington's disease and dentatorubral and pallidoluysian atrophy: correlation between the density of inclusions and IT15 CAG triplet repeat length." <u>Neurobiol Dis</u> 4(6): 387-97.
- Behrends, C., Langer, C. A., Boteva, R., Bottcher, U. M., Stemp, M. J., Schaffar, G., Rao, B. V., Giese, A., Kretzschmar, H., Siegers, K. and Hartl, F. U. (2006). "Chaperonin TRiC promotes the assembly of polyQ expansion proteins into nontoxic oligomers." <u>Mol Cell</u> 23(6): 887-97.
- Bence, N. F., Sampat, R. M. and Kopito, R. R. (2001). "Impairment of the ubiquitinproteasome system by protein aggregation." <u>Science</u> **292**(5521): 1552-5.
- Benn, C. L., Landles, C., Li, H., Strand, A. D., Woodman, B., Sathasivam, K., Li, S. H., Ghazi-Noori, S., Hockly, E., Faruque, S. M., Cha, J. H., Sharpe, P. T., Olson, J. M., Li, X. J. and Bates, G. P. (2005). "Contribution of nuclear and extranuclear polyQ to neurological phenotypes in mouse models of Huntington's disease." <u>Hum Mol Genet</u> 14(20): 3065-78.
- Bennett, E. J., Shaler, T. A., Woodman, B., Ryu, K. Y., Zaitseva, T. S., Becker, C. H., Bates, G. P., Schulman, H. and Kopito, R. R. (2007). "Global changes to the ubiquitin system in Huntington's disease." <u>Nature</u> 448(7154): 704-8.
- Bercovich, B., Stancovski, I., Mayer, A., Blumenfeld, N., Laszlo, A., Schwartz, A.
 L. and Ciechanover, A. (1997). "Ubiquitin-dependent degradation of certain protein substrates in vitro requires the molecular chaperone Hsc70." J Biol
 <u>Chem</u> 272(14): 9002-10.
- Bhutani, N., Venkatraman, P. and Goldberg, A. L. (2007). "Puromycin-sensitive aminopeptidase is the major peptidase responsible for digesting polyglutamine sequences released by proteasomes during protein degradation." <u>Embo J</u> 26(5): 1385-96.
- Bimston, D., Song, J., Winchester, D., Takayama, S., Reed, J. C. and Morimoto, R. I. (1998). "BAG-1, a negative regulator of Hsp70 chaperone activity, uncouples nucleotide hydrolysis from substrate release." <u>Embo J</u> 17(23): 6871-8.

- Boeddrich, A., Gaumer, S., Haacke, A., Tzvetkov, N., Albrecht, M., Evert, B. O.,
 Muller, E. C., Lurz, R., Breuer, P., Schugardt, N., Plassmann, S., Xu, K.,
 Warrick, J. M., Suopanki, J., Wullner, U., Frank, R., Hartl, U. F., Bonini, N. M.
 and Wanker, E. E. (2006). "An arginine/lysine-rich motif is crucial for VCP/
 p97-mediated modulation of ataxin-3 fibrillogenesis." Embo J 25(7): 1547-58.
- Borrell-Pages, M., Zala, D., Humbert, S. and Saudou, F. (2006). "Huntington's disease: from huntingtin function and dysfunction to therapeutic strategies." <u>Cell Mol Life Sci</u> **63**(22): 2642-60.
- Browne, S. E. and Beal, M. F. (2004). "The energetics of Huntington's disease." <u>Neurochem Res</u> **29**(3): 531-46.
- Browne, S. E., Bowling, A. C., MacGarvey, U., Baik, M. J., Berger, S. C., Muqit, M. M., Bird, E. D. and Beal, M. F. (1997). "Oxidative damage and metabolic dysfunction in Huntington's disease: selective vulnerability of the basal ganglia." <u>Ann Neurol</u> **41**(5): 646-53.
- Bukau, B. and Horwich, A. L. (1998). "The Hsp70 and Hsp60 chaperone machines." Cell **92**(3): 351-66.
- Cattaneo, E. and Conti, L. (1998). "Generation and characterization of embryonic striatal conditionally immortalized ST14A cells." <u>J Neurosci Res</u> **53**(2): 223-34.
- Cattaneo, E., Zuccato, C. and Tartari, M. (2005). "Normal huntingtin function: an alternative approach to Huntington's disease." <u>Nat Rev Neurosci</u> **6**(12): 919-30.
- Chai, Y., Koppenhafer, S. L., Bonini, N. M. and Paulson, H. L. (1999). "Analysis of the role of heat shock protein (Hsp) molecular chaperones in polyglutamine disease." J Neurosci **19**(23): 10338-47.
- Chan, H. Y., Warrick, J. M., Gray-Board, G. L., Paulson, H. L. and Bonini, N. M. (2000). "Mechanisms of chaperone suppression of polyglutamine disease: selectivity, synergy and modulation of protein solubility in Drosophila." <u>Hum</u> <u>Mol Genet</u> **9**(19): 2811-20.
- Chen, M., Singer, L., Scharf, A. and von Mikecz, A. (2008). "Nuclear polyglutaminecontaining protein aggregates as active proteolytic centers." <u>J Cell Biol</u>.
- Choo, Y. S., Johnson, G. V., MacDonald, M., Detloff, P. J. and Lesort, M. (2004). "Mutant huntingtin directly increases susceptibility of mitochondria to the calcium-induced permeability transition and cytochrome c release." <u>Hum Mol</u> <u>Genet</u> **13**(14): 1407-20.
- Ciechanover, A. (2005). "Intracellular protein degradation: from a vague idea thru the lysosome and the ubiquitin-proteasome system and onto human diseases and drug targeting." <u>Cell Death Differ</u> **12**(9): 1178-90.
- Colin, E., Regulier, E., Perrin, V., Durr, A., Brice, A., Aebischer, P., Deglon, N., Humbert, S. and Saudou, F. (2005). "Akt is altered in an animal model of Huntington's disease and in patients." <u>Eur J Neurosci</u> **21**(6): 1478-88.
- Cooper, G. M. (2000). <u>The Cell A Molecular Approach</u>. Sunderland, Missachusetts, Sinauer Associates, Inc.
- Cornett, J., Cao, F., Wang, C. E., Ross, C. A., Bates, G. P., Li, S. H. and Li, X. J. (2005). "Polyglutamine expansion of huntingtin impairs its nuclear export." <u>Nat Genet</u> **37**(2): 198-204.
- Coux, O., Tanaka, K. and Goldberg, A. L. (1996). "Structure and functions of the 20S and 26S proteasomes." <u>Annu Rev Biochem</u> **65**: 801-47.
- Craufurd, D., Thompson, J. C. and Snowden, J. S. (2001). "Behavioral changes in Huntington Disease." <u>Neuropsychiatry Neuropsychol Behav Neurol</u> **14**(4): 219-26.
- Cuervo, A. M. and Dice, J. F. (1998). "How do intracellular proteolytic systems change with age?" <u>Front Biosci</u> **3**: d25-43.

- Cummings, C. J., Mancini, M. A., Antalffy, B., DeFranco, D. B., Orr, H. T. and Zoghbi, H. Y. (1998). "Chaperone suppression of aggregation and altered subcellular proteasome localization imply protein misfolding in SCA1." <u>Nat Genet</u> **19**(2): 148-54.
- Cummings, C. J., Sun, Y., Opal, P., Antalffy, B., Mestril, R., Orr, H. T., Dillmann, W. H. and Zoghbi, H. Y. (2001). "Over-expression of inducible HSP70 chaperone suppresses neuropathology and improves motor function in SCA1 mice." <u>Hum Mol Genet</u> **10**(14): 1511-8.
- Cutress, R. I., Townsend, P. A., Brimmell, M., Bateman, A. C., Hague, A. and Packham, G. (2002). "BAG-1 expression and function in human cancer." <u>Br J</u> <u>Cancer</u> **87**(8): 834-9.
- Dahlmann, B. (2007). "Role of proteasomes in disease." <u>BMC Biochem</u> 8 Suppl 1: S3.
- Danen-van Oorschot, A. A., den Hollander, A. I., Takayama, S., Reed, J. C., van der Eb, A. J. and Noteborn, M. H. (1997). "BAG-1 inhibits p53-induced but not apoptin-induced apoptosis." <u>Apoptosis</u> 2(4): 395-402.
- Davies, S. W., Turmaine, M., Cozens, B. A., DiFiglia, M., Sharp, A. H., Ross, C. A., Scherzinger, E., Wanker, E. E., Mangiarini, L. and Bates, G. P. (1997).
 "Formation of neuronal intranuclear inclusions underlies the neurological dysfunction in mice transgenic for the HD mutation." <u>Cell</u> **90**(3): 537-48.
- De Rooij, K. E., Dorsman, J. C., Smoor, M. A., Den Dunnen, J. T. and Van Ommen, G. J. (1996). "Subcellular localization of the Huntington's disease gene product in cell lines by immunofluorescence and biochemical subcellular fractionation." <u>Hum Mol Genet</u> **5**(8): 1093-9.
- Demand, J., Alberti, S., Patterson, C. and Hohfeld, J. (2001). "Cooperation of a ubiquitin domain protein and an E3 ubiquitin ligase during chaperone/ proteasome coupling." <u>Curr Biol</u> **11**(20): 1569-77.
- Desplats, P. A., Kass, K. E., Gilmartin, T., Stanwood, G. D., Woodward, E. L., Head, S. R., Sutcliffe, J. G. and Thomas, E. A. (2006). "Selective deficits in the expression of striatal-enriched mRNAs in Huntington's disease." J <u>Neurochem</u> 96(3): 743-57.
- DiFiglia, M., Sapp, E., Chase, K., Schwarz, C., Meloni, A., Young, C., Martin, E., Vonsattel, J. P., Carraway, R., Reeves, S. A. and et al. (1995). "Huntingtin is a cytoplasmic protein associated with vesicles in human and rat brain neurons." <u>Neuron</u> 14(5): 1075-81.
- DiFiglia, M., Sapp, E., Chase, K. O., Davies, S. W., Bates, G. P., Vonsattel, J. P. and Aronin, N. (1997). "Aggregation of huntingtin in neuronal intranuclear inclusions and dystrophic neurites in brain." <u>Science</u> 277(5334): 1990-3.
- Doong, H., Vrailas, A. and Kohn, E. C. (2002). "What's in the 'BAG'?--A functional domain analysis of the BAG-family proteins." <u>Cancer Lett</u> **188**(1-2): 25-32.
- Dragatsis, I., Levine, M. S. and Zeitlin, S. (2000). "Inactivation of Hdh in the brain and testis results in progressive neurodegeneration and sterility in mice." <u>Nat</u> <u>Genet</u> **26**(3): 300-6.
- Dunah, A. W., Jeong, H., Griffin, A., Kim, Y. M., Standaert, D. G., Hersch, S. M., Mouradian, M. M., Young, A. B., Tanese, N. and Krainc, D. (2002). "Sp1 and TAFII130 transcriptional activity disrupted in early Huntington's disease." <u>Science</u> **296**(5576): 2238-43.
- Elliott, E., Tsvetkov, P. and Ginzburg, I. (2007). "BAG-1 associates with Hsc70.Tau complex and regulates the proteasomal degradation of Tau protein." J Biol Chem **282**(51): 37276-84.
- Ellis, R. J. (1997). "Molecular chaperones: avoiding the crowd." <u>Curr Biol</u> **7**(9): R531-3.
- Fernandez-Funez, P., Nino-Rosales, M. L., de Gouyon, B., She, W. C., Luchak, J. M., Martinez, P., Turiegano, E., Benito, J., Capovilla, M., Skinner, P.

J., McCall, A., Canal, I., Orr, H. T., Zoghbi, H. Y. and Botas, J. (2000). "Identification of genes that modify ataxin-1-induced neurodegeneration." <u>Nature</u> **408**(6808): 101-6.

- Folstein, S. E., Leigh, R. J., Parhad, I. M. and Folstein, M. F. (1986). "The diagnosis of Huntington's disease." <u>Neurology</u> **36**(10): 1279-83.
- Freemont, P. S. (2000). "RING for destruction?" Curr Biol 10(2): R84-7.
- Froesch, B. A., Takayama, S. and Reed, J. C. (1998). "BAG-1L protein enhances androgen receptor function." J Biol Chem **273**(19): 11660-6.
- Gafni, J., Hermel, E., Young, J. E., Wellington, C. L., Hayden, M. R. and Ellerby, L. M. (2004). "Inhibition of calpain cleavage of huntingtin reduces toxicity: accumulation of calpain/caspase fragments in the nucleus." <u>J Biol Chem</u> **279**(19): 20211-20.
- Garcia-Mata, R., Bebok, Z., Sorscher, E. J. and Sztul, E. S. (1999).
 "Characterization and dynamics of aggresome formation by a cytosolic GFPchimera." J Cell Biol 146(6): 1239-54.
- Gassler, C. S., Wiederkehr, T., Brehmer, D., Bukau, B. and Mayer, M. P. (2001). "Bag-1M accelerates nucleotide release for human Hsc70 and Hsp70 and can act concentration-dependent as positive and negative cofactor." <u>J Biol</u> <u>Chem</u> **276**(35): 32538-44.
- Gauthier, L. R., Charrin, B. C., Borrell-Pages, M., Dompierre, J. P., Rangone, H., Cordelieres, F. P., De Mey, J., MacDonald, M. E., Lessmann, V., Humbert, S. and Saudou, F. (2004). "Huntingtin controls neurotrophic support and survival of neurons by enhancing BDNF vesicular transport along microtubules." <u>Cell</u> **118**(1): 127-38.
- Gerber, H. P., Seipel, K., Georgiev, O., Hofferer, M., Hug, M., Rusconi, S. and Schaffner, W. (1994). "Transcriptional activation modulated by homopolymeric glutamine and proline stretches." <u>Science</u> **263**(5148): 808-11.
- Gervais, F. G., Singaraja, R., Xanthoudakis, S., Gutekunst, C. A., Leavitt, B.
 R., Metzler, M., Hackam, A. S., Tam, J., Vaillancourt, J. P., Houtzager,
 V., Rasper, D. M., Roy, S., Hayden, M. R. and Nicholson, D. W. (2002).
 "Recruitment and activation of caspase-8 by the Huntingtin-interacting
 protein Hip-1 and a novel partner Hippi." Nat Cell Biol 4(2): 95-105.
- Gidalevitz, T., Ben-Zvi, A., Ho, K. H., Brignull, H. R. and Morimoto, R. I. (2006).
 "Progressive disruption of cellular protein folding in models of polyglutamine diseases." <u>Science</u> 311(5766): 1471-4.
- Goebel, H. H., Heipertz, R., Scholz, W., Iqbal, K. and Tellez-Nagel, I. (1978).
 "Juvenile Huntington chorea: clinical, ultrastructural, and biochemical studies." <u>Neurology</u> 28(1): 23-31.
- Gotz, R., Wiese, S., Takayama, S., Camarero, G. C., Rossoll, W., Schweizer, U., Troppmair, J., Jablonka, S., Holtmann, B., Reed, J. C., Rapp, U. R. and Sendtner, M. (2005). "Bag1 is essential for differentiation and survival of hematopoietic and neuronal cells." <u>Nat Neurosci</u> 8(9): 1169-78.
- Graham, R. K., Deng, Y., Slow, E. J., Haigh, B., Bissada, N., Lu, G., Pearson, J., Shehadeh, J., Bertram, L., Murphy, Z., Warby, S. C., Doty, C. N., Roy, S., Wellington, C. L., Leavitt, B. R., Raymond, L. A., Nicholson, D. W. and Hayden, M. R. (2006). "Cleavage at the caspase-6 site is required for neuronal dysfunction and degeneration due to mutant huntingtin." <u>Cell</u> **125**(6): 1179-91.
- Grewal, S. S., York, R. D. and Stork, P. J. (1999). "Extracellular-signal-regulated kinase signalling in neurons." <u>Curr Opin Neurobiol</u> **9**(5): 544-53.
- Gunawardena, S., Her, L. S., Brusch, R. G., Laymon, R. A., Niesman, I. R., Gordesky-Gold, B., Sintasath, L., Bonini, N. M. and Goldstein, L. S. (2003).

"Disruption of axonal transport by loss of huntingtin or expression of pathogenic polyQ proteins in Drosophila." <u>Neuron</u> **40**(1): 25-40.

- Gutekunst, C. A., Levey, A. I., Heilman, C. J., Whaley, W. L., Yi, H., Nash, N. R., Rees, H. D., Madden, J. J. and Hersch, S. M. (1995). "Identification and localization of huntingtin in brain and human lymphoblastoid cell lines with anti-fusion protein antibodies." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> 92(19): 8710-4.
- Hansson, O., Nylandsted, J., Castilho, R. F., Leist, M., Jaattela, M. and Brundin, P. (2003). "Overexpression of heat shock protein 70 in R6/2 Huntington's disease mice has only modest effects on disease progression." <u>Brain Res</u> **970**(1-2): 47-57.
- Hara, M. R., Agrawal, N., Kim, S. F., Cascio, M. B., Fujimuro, M., Ozeki, Y., Takahashi, M., Cheah, J. H., Tankou, S. K., Hester, L. D., Ferris, C. D., Hayward, S. D., Snyder, S. H. and Sawa, A. (2005). "S-nitrosylated GAPDH initiates apoptotic cell death by nuclear translocation following Siah1 binding." <u>Nat Cell Biol</u> 7(7): 665-74.
- Hara, T., Nakamura, K., Matsui, M., Yamamoto, A., Nakahara, Y., Suzuki-Migishima, R., Yokoyama, M., Mishima, K., Saito, I., Okano, H. and Mizushima, N. (2006). "Suppression of basal autophagy in neural cells causes neurodegenerative disease in mice." <u>Nature</u> 441(7095): 885-9.
- Hartl, F. U. and Hayer-Hartl, M. (2002). "Molecular chaperones in the cytosol: from nascent chain to folded protein." <u>Science</u> **295**(5561): 1852-8.
- Hay, D. G., Sathasivam, K., Tobaben, S., Stahl, B., Marber, M., Mestril, R., Mahal, A., Smith, D. L., Woodman, B. and Bates, G. P. (2004). "Progressive decrease in chaperone protein levels in a mouse model of Huntington's disease and induction of stress proteins as a therapeutic approach." <u>Hum</u> <u>Mol Genet</u> **13**(13): 1389-405.
- Hermel, E., Gafni, J., Propp, S. S., Leavitt, B. R., Wellington, C. L., Young, J. E., Hackam, A. S., Logvinova, A. V., Peel, A. L., Chen, S. F., Hook, V., Singaraja, R., Krajewski, S., Goldsmith, P. C., Ellerby, H. M., Hayden, M. R., Bredesen, D. E. and Ellerby, L. M. (2004). "Specific caspase interactions and amplification are involved in selective neuronal vulnerability in Huntington's disease." <u>Cell Death Differ</u> **11**(4): 424-38.
- Heydari, A. R., Takahashi, R., Gutsmann, A., You, S. and Richardson, A. (1994). "Hsp70 and aging." <u>Experientia</u> **50**(11-12): 1092-8.
- Hirabayashi, M., Inoue, K., Tanaka, K., Nakadate, K., Ohsawa, Y., Kamei, Y., Popiel, A. H., Sinohara, A., Iwamatsu, A., Kimura, Y., Uchiyama, Y., Hori, S. and Kakizuka, A. (2001). "VCP/p97 in abnormal protein aggregates, cytoplasmic vacuoles, and cell death, phenotypes relevant to neurodegeneration." <u>Cell</u> <u>Death Differ</u> 8(10): 977-84.
- Hohfeld, J. and Jentsch, S. (1997). "GrpE-like regulation of the hsc70 chaperone by the anti-apoptotic protein BAG-1." <u>Embo J</u> **16**(20): 6209-16.
- Hu, G. and Fearon, E. R. (1999). "Siah-1 N-terminal RING domain is required for proteolysis function, and C-terminal sequences regulate oligomerization and binding to target proteins." <u>Mol Cell Biol</u> **19**(1): 724-32.
- Humbert, S., Bryson, E. A., Cordelieres, F. P., Connors, N. C., Datta, S. R., Finkbeiner, S., Greenberg, M. E. and Saudou, F. (2002). "The IGF-1/Akt pathway is neuroprotective in Huntington's disease and involves Huntingtin phosphorylation by Akt." <u>Dev Cell</u> 2(6): 831-7.
- Huntington, G. (1872). "On Chorea." <u>The Medical and Surgical Reporter: A Weekly</u> Journal, (Philadelphia: S.W. Butler) **26**(15): 317-321.
- Huntington's Disease Collaborative Research Group (1993). "A novel gene containing a trinucleotide repeat that is expanded and unstable on

Huntington's disease chromosomes. The Huntington's Disease Collaborative Research Group." <u>Cell</u> **72**(6): 971-83.

- Iwata, A., Christianson, J. C., Bucci, M., Ellerby, L. M., Nukina, N., Forno, L. S. and Kopito, R. R. (2005). "Increased susceptibility of cytoplasmic over nuclear polyglutamine aggregates to autophagic degradation." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U</u> <u>S A</u> 102(37): 13135-40.
- Jackson, G. R., Salecker, I., Dong, X., Yao, X., Arnheim, N., Faber, P. W., MacDonald, M. E. and Zipursky, S. L. (1998). "Polyglutamine-expanded human huntingtin transgenes induce degeneration of Drosophila photoreceptor neurons." <u>Neuron</u> 21(3): 633-42.
- Jana, N. R., Dikshit, P., Goswami, A., Kotliarova, S., Murata, S., Tanaka, K. and Nukina, N. (2005). "Co-chaperone CHIP associates with expanded polyglutamine protein and promotes their degradation by proteasomes." J Biol Chem **280**(12): 11635-40.
- Jana, N. R. and Nukina, N. (2005). "BAG-1 associates with the polyglutamineexpanded huntingtin aggregates." <u>Neurosci Lett</u> **378**(3): 171-5.
- Jana, N. R., Tanaka, M., Wang, G. and Nukina, N. (2000). "Polyglutamine lengthdependent interaction of Hsp40 and Hsp70 family chaperones with truncated N-terminal huntingtin: their role in suppression of aggregation and cellular toxicity." <u>Hum Mol Genet</u> 9(13): 2009-18.
- Jana, N. R., Zemskov, E. A., Wang, G. and Nukina, N. (2001). "Altered proteasomal function due to the expression of polyglutamine-expanded truncated N-terminal huntingtin induces apoptosis by caspase activation through mitochondrial cytochrome c release." <u>Hum Mol Genet</u> **10**(10): 1049-59.
- Johnson, G. L. and Lapadat, R. (2002). "Mitogen-activated protein kinase pathways mediated by ERK, JNK, and p38 protein kinases." <u>Science</u> **298**(5600): 1911-2.
- Johnston, J. A., Ward, C. L. and Kopito, R. R. (1998). "Aggresomes: a cellular response to misfolded proteins." <u>J Cell Biol</u> **143**(7): 1883-98.
- Kazemi-Esfarjani, P. and Benzer, S. (2000). "Genetic suppression of polyglutamine toxicity in Drosophila." <u>Science</u> **287**(5459): 1837-40.
- Kegel, K. B., Kim, M., Sapp, E., McIntyre, C., Castano, J. G., Aronin, N. and DiFiglia, M. (2000). "Huntingtin expression stimulates endosomal-lysosomal activity, endosome tubulation, and autophagy." <u>J Neurosci</u> 20(19): 7268-78.
- Kegel, K. B., Meloni, A. R., Yi, Y., Kim, Y. J., Doyle, E., Cuiffo, B. G., Sapp, E., Wang, Y., Qin, Z. H., Chen, J. D., Nevins, J. R., Aronin, N. and DiFiglia, M. (2002). "Huntingtin is present in the nucleus, interacts with the transcriptional corepressor C-terminal binding protein, and represses transcription." J Biol Chem 277(9): 7466-76.
- Kegel, K. B., Sapp, E., Yoder, J., Cuiffo, B., Sobin, L., Kim, Y. J., Qin, Z. H., Hayden, M. R., Aronin, N., Scott, D. L., Isenberg, G., Goldmann, W. H. and DiFiglia, M. (2005). "Huntingtin associates with acidic phospholipids at the plasma membrane." J Biol Chem 280(43): 36464-73.
- Kermer, P., Digicaylioglu, M. H., Kaul, M., Zapata, J. M., Krajewska, M., Stenner-Liewen, F., Takayama, S., Krajewski, S., Lipton, S. A. and Reed, J. C. (2003).
 "BAG1 over-expression in brain protects against stroke." <u>Brain Pathol</u> 13(4): 495-506.
- Kermer, P., Krajewska, M., Zapata, J. M., Takayama, S., Mai, J., Krajewski, S. and Reed, J. C. (2002). "Bag1 is a regulator and marker of neuronal differentiation." <u>Cell Death Differ</u> 9(4): 405-13.
- Kim, M., Lee, H. S., LaForet, G., McIntyre, C., Martin, E. J., Chang, P., Kim, T. W., Williams, M., Reddy, P. H., Tagle, D., Boyce, F. M., Won, L., Heller, A.,

Aronin, N. and DiFiglia, M. (1999). "Mutant huntingtin expression in clonal striatal cells: dissociation of inclusion formation and neuronal survival by caspase inhibition." <u>J Neurosci</u> **19**(3): 964-73.

- Kitamura, A., Kubota, H., Pack, C. G., Matsumoto, G., Hirayama, S., Takahashi, Y., Kimura, H., Kinjo, M., Morimoto, R. I. and Nagata, K. (2006). "Cytosolic chaperonin prevents polyglutamine toxicity with altering the aggregation state." <u>Nat Cell Biol</u> 8(10): 1163-70.
- Kobayashi, T., Manno, A. and Kakizuka, A. (2007). "Involvement of valosincontaining protein (VCP)/p97 in the formation and clearance of abnormal protein aggregates." <u>Genes Cells</u> **12**(7): 889-901.
- Kobayashi, Y., Kume, A., Li, M., Doyu, M., Hata, M., Ohtsuka, K. and Sobue, G. (2000). "Chaperones Hsp70 and Hsp40 suppress aggregate formation and apoptosis in cultured neuronal cells expressing truncated androgen receptor protein with expanded polyglutamine tract." J Biol Chem 275(12): 8772-8.
- Komatsu, M., Waguri, S., Chiba, T., Murata, S., Iwata, J., Tanida, I., Ueno, T., Koike, M., Uchiyama, Y., Kominami, E. and Tanaka, K. (2006). "Loss of autophagy in the central nervous system causes neurodegeneration in mice." <u>Nature</u> 441(7095): 880-4.
- Kopito, R. R. (2000). "Aggresomes, inclusion bodies and protein aggregation." <u>Trends Cell Biol</u> **10**(12): 524-30.
- Kremer, B., Goldberg, P., Andrew, S. E., Theilmann, J., Telenius, H., Zeisler, J., Squitieri, F., Lin, B., Bassett, A., Almqvist, E. and et al. (1994). "A worldwide study of the Huntington's disease mutation. The sensitivity and specificity of measuring CAG repeats." <u>N Engl J Med</u> **330**(20): 1401-6.
- Kullmann, M., Schneikert, J., Moll, J., Heck, S., Zeiner, M., Gehring, U. and Cato, A.
 C. (1998). "RAP46 is a negative regulator of glucocorticoid receptor action and hormone-induced apoptosis." J Biol Chem 273 (23): 14620-5.
- Lansbury, P. T., Jr. (1997). "Structural neurology: are seeds at the root of neuronal degeneration?" <u>Neuron</u> **19**(6): 1151-4.
- Leavitt, B. R., Guttman, J. A., Hodgson, J. G., Kimel, G. H., Singaraja, R., Vogl, A. W. and Hayden, M. R. (2001). "Wild-type huntingtin reduces the cellular toxicity of mutant huntingtin in vivo." <u>Am J Hum Genet</u> 68(2): 313-24.
- Leavitt, B. R., van Raamsdonk, J. M., Shehadeh, J., Fernandes, H., Murphy, Z., Graham, R. K., Wellington, C. L., Raymond, L. A. and Hayden, M. R. (2006). "Wild-type huntingtin protects neurons from excitotoxicity." <u>J Neurochem</u> **96**(4): 1121-9.
- Lee, D. H., Sherman, M. Y. and Goldberg, A. L. (1996). "Involvement of the molecular chaperone Ydj1 in the ubiquitin-dependent degradation of shortlived and abnormal proteins in Saccharomyces cerevisiae." <u>Mol Cell Biol</u> **16**(9): 4773-81.
- Li, J. Y., Popovic, N. and Brundin, P. (2005). "The use of the R6 transgenic mouse models of Huntington's disease in attempts to develop novel therapeutic strategies." <u>NeuroRx</u> **2**(3): 447-64.
- Li, S. H., Schilling, G., Young, W. S., 3rd, Li, X. J., Margolis, R. L., Stine, O. C., Wagster, M. V., Abbott, M. H., Franz, M. L., Ranen, N. G. and et al. (1993). "Huntington's disease gene (IT15) is widely expressed in human and rat tissues." <u>Neuron</u> 11(5): 985-93.
- Liman, J., Ganesan, S., Dohm, C. P., Krajewski, S., Reed, J. C., Bahr, M., Wouters, F. S. and Kermer, P. (2005). "Interaction of BAG1 and Hsp70 mediates neuroprotectivity and increases chaperone activity." <u>Mol Cell Biol</u> **25**(9): 3715-25.
- Lin, J., Wu, P. H., Tarr, P. T., Lindenberg, K. S., St-Pierre, J., Zhang, C. Y., Mootha, V. K., Jager, S., Vianna, C. R., Reznick, R. M., Cui, L., Manieri, M., Donovan,

M. X., Wu, Z., Cooper, M. P., Fan, M. C., Rohas, L. M., Zavacki, A. M., Cinti, S., Shulman, G. I., Lowell, B. B., Krainc, D. and Spiegelman, B. M. (2004). "Defects in adaptive energy metabolism with CNS-linked hyperactivity in PGC-1alpha null mice." <u>Cell</u> **119**(1): 121-35.

- Liu, R., Takayama, S., Zheng, Y., Froesch, B., Chen, G. Q., Zhang, X., Reed, J. C. and Zhang, X. K. (1998). "Interaction of BAG-1 with retinoic acid receptor and its inhibition of retinoic acid-induced apoptosis in cancer cells." <u>J Biol</u> <u>Chem</u> **273**(27): 16985-92.
- Liu, Y. F. (1998). "Expression of polyglutamine-expanded Huntingtin activates the SEK1-JNK pathway and induces apoptosis in a hippocampal neuronal cell line." J Biol Chem **273**(44): 28873-7.
- Locke, M. and Tanguay, R. M. (1996). "Diminished heat shock response in the aged myocardium." <u>Cell Stress Chaperones</u> **1**(4): 251-60.
- Luders, J., Demand, J. and Hohfeld, J. (2000). "The ubiquitin-related BAG-1 provides a link between the molecular chaperones Hsc70/Hsp70 and the proteasome." J Biol Chem **275**(7): 4613-7.
- Luders, J., Demand, J., Papp, O. and Hohfeld, J. (2000). "Distinct isoforms of the cofactor BAG-1 differentially affect Hsc70 chaperone function." <u>J Biol Chem</u> **275**(20): 14817-23.
- Ludolph, A. C. and Munch, C. (1999). "Neurotoxic mechanisms of degeneration in motor neuron diseases." <u>Drug Metab Rev</u> **31**(3): 619-34.
- Lunkes, A., Lindenberg, K. S., Ben-Haiem, L., Weber, C., Devys, D., Landwehrmeyer, G. B., Mandel, J. L. and Trottier, Y. (2002). "Proteases acting on mutant huntingtin generate cleaved products that differentially build up cytoplasmic and nuclear inclusions." <u>Mol Cell</u> **10**(2): 259-69.
- Luo, S., Vacher, C., Davies, J. E. and Rubinsztein, D. C. (2005). "Cdk5 phosphorylation of huntingtin reduces its cleavage by caspases: implications for mutant huntingtin toxicity." <u>J Cell Biol</u> **169**(4): 647-56.
- Luthi-Carter, R., Hanson, S. A., Strand, A. D., Bergstrom, D. A., Chun, W., Peters, N. L., Woods, A. M., Chan, E. Y., Kooperberg, C., Krainc, D., Young, A. B., Tapscott, S. J. and Olson, J. M. (2002). "Dysregulation of gene expression in the R6/2 model of polyglutamine disease: parallel changes in muscle and brain." <u>Hum Mol Genet</u> **11**(17): 1911-26.
- Luthi-Carter, R., Strand, A., Peters, N. L., Solano, S. M., Hollingsworth, Z. R., Menon, A. S., Frey, A. S., Spektor, B. S., Penney, E. B., Schilling, G., Ross, C. A., Borchelt, D. R., Tapscott, S. J., Young, A. B., Cha, J. H. and Olson, J. M. (2000). "Decreased expression of striatal signaling genes in a mouse model of Huntington's disease." <u>Hum Mol Genet</u> 9(9): 1259-71.
- Maat-Schieman, M. L., Dorsman, J. C., Smoor, M. A., Siesling, S., Van Duinen, S. G., Verschuuren, J. J., den Dunnen, J. T., Van Ommen, G. J. and Roos, R. A. (1999). "Distribution of inclusions in neuronal nuclei and dystrophic neurites in Huntington disease brain." <u>J Neuropathol Exp Neurol</u> 58(2): 129-37.
- Mangiarini, L., Sathasivam, K., Seller, M., Cozens, B., Harper, A., Hetherington, C., Lawton, M., Trottier, Y., Lehrach, H., Davies, S. W. and Bates, G. P. (1996).
 "Exon 1 of the HD gene with an expanded CAG repeat is sufficient to cause a progressive neurological phenotype in transgenic mice." <u>Cell</u> 87(3): 493-506.
- Margolis, R. L. and Ross, C. A. (2001). "Expansion explosion: new clues to the pathogenesis of repeat expansion neurodegenerative diseases." <u>Trends Mol</u> <u>Med</u> **7**(11): 479-82.
- Martin-Aparicio, E., Yamamoto, A., Hernandez, F., Hen, R., Avila, J. and Lucas, J. J. (2001). "Proteasomal-dependent aggregate reversal and absence of cell

death in a conditional mouse model of Huntington's disease." <u>J Neurosci</u> **21**(22): 8772-81.

- Matsuzawa, S., Takayama, S., Froesch, B. A., Zapata, J. M. and Reed, J. C. (1998). "p53-inducible human homologue of Drosophila seven in absentia (Siah) inhibits cell growth: suppression by BAG-1." <u>Embo J</u> **17**(10): 2736-47.
- McCampbell, A., Taylor, J. P., Taye, A. A., Robitschek, J., Li, M., Walcott, J., Merry, D., Chai, Y., Paulson, H., Sobue, G. and Fischbeck, K. H. (2000). "CREBbinding protein sequestration by expanded polyglutamine." <u>Hum Mol Genet</u> 9(14): 2197-202.
- Mende-Mueller, L. M., Toneff, T., Hwang, S. R., Chesselet, M. F. and Hook, V. Y. (2001). "Tissue-specific proteolysis of Huntingtin (htt) in human brain: evidence of enhanced levels of N- and C-terminal htt fragments in Huntington's disease striatum." <u>J Neurosci</u> 21(6): 1830-7.
- Merienne, K., Helmlinger, D., Perkin, G. R., Devys, D. and Trottier, Y. (2003).
 "Polyglutamine expansion induces a protein-damaging stress connecting heat shock protein 70 to the JNK pathway." J Biol Chem 278(19): 16957-67.
- Metzler, M., Chen, N., Helgason, C. D., Graham, R. K., Nichol, K., McCutcheon, K., Nasir, J., Humphries, R. K., Raymond, L. A. and Hayden, M. R. (1999).
 "Life without huntingtin: normal differentiation into functional neurons." J Neurochem **72**(3): 1009-18.
- Metzler, M., Helgason, C. D., Dragatsis, I., Zhang, T., Gan, L., Pineault, N., Zeitlin, S. O., Humphries, R. K. and Hayden, M. R. (2000). "Huntingtin is required for normal hematopoiesis." <u>Hum Mol Genet</u> **9**(3): 387-94.
- Mishra, A., Dikshit, P., Purkayastha, S., Sharma, J., Nukina, N. and Jana, N. R. (2008). "E6-AP promotes misfolded polyglutamine proteins for proteasomal degradation and suppresses polyglutamine protein aggregation and toxicity." <u>J Biol Chem</u>.
- Mosser, D. D. and Morimoto, R. I. (2004). "Molecular chaperones and the stress of oncogenesis." <u>Oncogene</u> **23**(16): 2907-18.
- Muchowski, P. J. (2002). "Protein misfolding, amyloid formation, and neurodegeneration: a critical role for molecular chaperones?" <u>Neuron</u> **35**(1): 9-12.
- Muchowski, P. J., Ning, K., D'Souza-Schorey, C. and Fields, S. (2002). "Requirement of an intact microtubule cytoskeleton for aggregation and inclusion body formation by a mutant huntingtin fragment." <u>Proc Natl Acad</u> <u>Sci U S A</u> **99**(2): 727-32.
- Muchowski, P. J., Schaffar, G., Sittler, A., Wanker, E. E., Hayer-Hartl, M. K. and Hartl, F. U. (2000). "Hsp70 and hsp40 chaperones can inhibit self-assembly of polyglutamine proteins into amyloid-like fibrils." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> **97**(14): 7841-6.
- Muchowski, P. J. and Wacker, J. L. (2005). "Modulation of neurodegeneration by molecular chaperones." <u>Nat Rev Neurosci</u> **6**(1): 11-22.
- Muramatsu, T., Hatoko, M., Tada, H., Shirai, T. and Ohnishi, T. (1996). "Age-related decrease in the inductability of heat shock protein 72 in normal human skin." <u>Br J Dermatol</u> **134**(6): 1035-8.
- Nagata, E., Sawa, A., Ross, C. A. and Snyder, S. H. (2004). "Autophagosome-like vacuole formation in Huntington's disease lymphoblasts." <u>Neuroreport</u> **15**(8): 1325-8.
- Nasir, J., Floresco, S. B., O'Kusky, J. R., Diewert, V. M., Richman, J. M., Zeisler, J., Borowski, A., Marth, J. D., Phillips, A. G. and Hayden, M. R. (1995). "Targeted disruption of the Huntington's disease gene results in embryonic lethality and behavioral and morphological changes in heterozygotes." <u>Cell</u> 81(5): 811-23.

- Niyaz, Y., Zeiner, M. and Gehring, U. (2001). "Transcriptional activation by the human Hsp70-associating protein Hap50." <u>J Cell Sci</u> **114**(Pt 10): 1839-45.
- Nollen, E. A., Brunsting, J. F., Song, J., Kampinga, H. H. and Morimoto, R. I. (2000). "Bag1 functions in vivo as a negative regulator of Hsp70 chaperone activity." <u>Mol Cell Biol</u> **20**(3): 1083-8.
- Nollen, E. A., Garcia, S. M., van Haaften, G., Kim, S., Chavez, A., Morimoto, R. I. and Plasterk, R. H. (2004). "Genome-wide RNA interference screen identifies previously undescribed regulators of polyglutamine aggregation." <u>Proc Natl</u> <u>Acad Sci U S A</u> **101**(17): 6403-8.
- Nucifora, F. C., Jr., Sasaki, M., Peters, M. F., Huang, H., Cooper, J. K., Yamada, M., Takahashi, H., Tsuji, S., Troncoso, J., Dawson, V. L., Dawson, T. M. and Ross, C. A. (2001). "Interference by huntingtin and atrophin-1 with cbp-mediated transcription leading to cellular toxicity." <u>Science</u> 291(5512): 2423-8.
- Packham, G., Brimmell, M. and Cleveland, J. L. (1997). "Mammalian cells express two differently localized Bag-1 isoforms generated by alternative translation initiation." <u>Biochem J</u> 328 (Pt 3): 807-13.
- Panov, A. V., Gutekunst, C. A., Leavitt, B. R., Hayden, M. R., Burke, J. R., Strittmatter, W. J. and Greenamyre, J. T. (2002). "Early mitochondrial calcium defects in Huntington's disease are a direct effect of polyglutamines." <u>Nat</u> <u>Neurosci</u> 5(8): 731-6.
- Perutz, M. F., Johnson, T., Suzuki, M. and Finch, J. T. (1994). "Glutamine repeats as polar zippers: their possible role in inherited neurodegenerative diseases." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> **91**(12): 5355-8.
- Peters, M. F., Nucifora, F. C., Jr., Kushi, J., Seaman, H. C., Cooper, J. K., Herring, W. J., Dawson, V. L., Dawson, T. M. and Ross, C. A. (1999). "Nuclear targeting of mutant Huntingtin increases toxicity." <u>Mol Cell Neurosci</u> 14(2): 121-8.
- Petersen, A. and Bjorkqvist, M. (2006). "Hypothalamic-endocrine aspects in Huntington's disease." <u>Eur J Neurosci</u> **24**(4): 961-7.
- Petersen, A., Gil, J., Maat-Schieman, M. L., Bjorkqvist, M., Tanila, H., Araujo, I. M., Smith, R., Popovic, N., Wierup, N., Norlen, P., Li, J. Y., Roos, R. A., Sundler, F., Mulder, H. and Brundin, P. (2005). "Orexin loss in Huntington's disease." <u>Hum Mol Genet</u> 14(1): 39-47.
- Petersen, A., Larsen, K. E., Behr, G. G., Romero, N., Przedborski, S., Brundin, P. and Sulzer, D. (2001). "Expanded CAG repeats in exon 1 of the Huntington's disease gene stimulate dopamine-mediated striatal neuron autophagy and degeneration." <u>Hum Mol Genet</u> **10**(12): 1243-54.
- Phelps, C. B. and Brand, A. H. (1998). "Ectopic gene expression in Drosophila using GAL4 system." <u>Methods</u> **14**(4): 367-79.
- Pichaud, F. and Desplan, C. (2001). "A new visualization approach for identifying mutations that affect differentiation and organization of the Drosophila ommatidia." <u>Development</u> **128**(6): 815-26.
- Rajan, R. S., Illing, M. E., Bence, N. F. and Kopito, R. R. (2001). "Specificity in intracellular protein aggregation and inclusion body formation." <u>Proc Natl</u> <u>Acad Sci U S A</u> 98(23): 13060-5.
- Rattan, S. I. and Derventzi, A. (1991). "Altered cellular responsiveness during ageing." <u>Bioessays</u> **13**(11): 601-6.
- Ravikumar, B., Duden, R. and Rubinsztein, D. C. (2002). "Aggregate-prone proteins with polyglutamine and polyalanine expansions are degraded by autophagy." <u>Hum Mol Genet</u> **11**(9): 1107-17.
- Ravikumar, B., Vacher, C., Berger, Z., Davies, J. E., Luo, S., Oroz, L. G., Scaravilli, F., Easton, D. F., Duden, R., O'Kane, C. J. and Rubinsztein, D. C. (2004).

"Inhibition of mTOR induces autophagy and reduces toxicity of polyglutamine expansions in fly and mouse models of Huntington disease." <u>Nat Genet</u> **36**(6): 585-95.

- Ready, D. F., Hanson, T. E. and Benzer, S. (1976). "Development of the Drosophila retina, a neurocrystalline lattice." <u>Dev Biol</u> **53**(2): 217-40.
- Reed, J. C. and Ely, K. R. (2002). "Degrading liaisons: Siah structure revealed." <u>Nat</u> <u>Struct Biol</u> **9**(1): 8-10.
- Reiner, A., Albin, R. L., Anderson, K. D., D'Amato, C. J., Penney, J. B. and Young,
 A. B. (1988). "Differential loss of striatal projection neurons in Huntington disease." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 85(15): 5733-7.
- Reiner, A., Del Mar, N., Meade, C. A., Yang, H., Dragatsis, I., Zeitlin, S. and Goldowitz, D. (2001). "Neurons lacking huntingtin differentially colonize brain and survive in chimeric mice." <u>J Neurosci</u> **21**(19): 7608-19.
- Reiner, A., Dragatsis, I., Zeitlin, S. and Goldowitz, D. (2003). "Wild-type huntingtin plays a role in brain development and neuronal survival." <u>Mol Neurobiol</u> 28(3): 259-76.
- Rigamonti, D., Sipione, S., Goffredo, D., Zuccato, C., Fossale, E. and Cattaneo,
 E. (2001). "Huntingtin's neuroprotective activity occurs via inhibition of procaspase-9 processing." J Biol Chem 276(18): 14545-8.
- Roperch, J. P., Lethrone, F., Prieur, S., Piouffre, L., Israeli, D., Tuynder, M., Nemani, M., Pasturaud, P., Gendron, M. C., Dausset, J., Oren, M., Amson, R. B. and Telerman, A. (1999). "SIAH-1 promotes apoptosis and tumor suppression through a network involving the regulation of protein folding, unfolding, and trafficking: identification of common effectors with p53 and p21(Waf1)." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> **96**(14): 8070-3.
- Rubinsztein, D. C., DiFiglia, M., Heintz, N., Nixon, R. A., Qin, Z. H., Ravikumar, B., Stefanis, L. and Tolkovsky, A. (2005). "Autophagy and its possible roles in nervous system diseases, damage and repair." <u>Autophagy</u> 1(1): 11-22.
- Rubinsztein, D. C., Gestwicki, J. E., Murphy, L. O. and Klionsky, D. J. (2007). "Potential therapeutic applications of autophagy." <u>Nat Rev Drug Discov</u> **6**(4): 304-12.
- Sapp, E., Schwarz, C., Chase, K., Bhide, P. G., Young, A. B., Penney, J., Vonsattel, J. P., Aronin, N. and DiFiglia, M. (1997). "Huntingtin localization in brains of normal and Huntington's disease patients." <u>Ann Neurol</u> **42**(4): 604-12.
- Satyal, S. H., Schmidt, E., Kitagawa, K., Sondheimer, N., Lindquist, S., Kramer, J. M. and Morimoto, R. I. (2000). "Polyglutamine aggregates alter protein folding homeostasis in Caenorhabditis elegans." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> 97(11): 5750-5.
- Saudou, F., Finkbeiner, S., Devys, D. and Greenberg, M. E. (1998). "Huntingtin acts in the nucleus to induce apoptosis but death does not correlate with the formation of intranuclear inclusions." <u>Cell</u> **95**(1): 55-66.
- Schaffar, G., Breuer, P., Boteva, R., Behrends, C., Tzvetkov, N., Strippel, N., Sakahira, H., Siegers, K., Hayer-Hartl, M. and Hartl, F. U. (2004). "Cellular toxicity of polyglutamine expansion proteins: mechanism of transcription factor deactivation." <u>Mol Cell</u> **15**(1): 95-105.
- Scherzinger, E., Lurz, R., Turmaine, M., Mangiarini, L., Hollenbach, B., Hasenbank, R., Bates, G. P., Davies, S. W., Lehrach, H. and Wanker, E. E. (1997). "Huntingtin-encoded polyglutamine expansions form amyloid-like protein aggregates in vitro and in vivo." <u>Cell</u> **90**(3): 549-58.
- Schmidt, U., Wochnik, G. M., Rosenhagen, M. C., Young, J. C., Hartl, F. U., Holsboer, F. and Rein, T. (2003). "Essential role of the unusual DNA-binding motif of BAG-1 for inhibition of the glucocorticoid receptor." <u>J Biol Chem</u> 278(7): 4926-31.

- Schneikert, J., Hubner, S., Martin, E. and Cato, A. C. (1999). "A nuclear action of the eukaryotic cochaperone RAP46 in downregulation of glucocorticoid receptor activity." <u>J Cell Biol</u> **146**(5): 929-40.
- Schulz, J. B., Bremen, D., Reed, J. C., Lommatzsch, J., Takayama, S., Wullner, U., Loschmann, P. A., Klockgether, T. and Weller, M. (1997). "Cooperative interception of neuronal apoptosis by BCL-2 and BAG-1 expression: prevention of caspase activation and reduced production of reactive oxygen species." J Neurochem 69(5): 2075-86.
- Seo, H., Sonntag, K. C., Kim, W., Cattaneo, E. and Isacson, O. (2007). "Proteasome activator enhances survival of huntington's disease neuronal model cells." <u>PLoS ONE</u> 2(2): e238.
- Seong, I. S., Ivanova, E., Lee, J. M., Choo, Y. S., Fossale, E., Anderson, M.,
 Gusella, J. F., Laramie, J. M., Myers, R. H., Lesort, M. and MacDonald, M.
 E. (2005). "HD CAG repeat implicates a dominant property of huntingtin in mitochondrial energy metabolism." <u>Hum Mol Genet</u> 14(19): 2871-80.
- Shang, F., Gong, X., Palmer, H. J., Nowell, T. R., Jr. and Taylor, A. (1997). "Agerelated decline in ubiquitin conjugation in response to oxidative stress in the lens." <u>Exp Eye Res</u> 64(1): 21-30.
- Sharp, A. H., Loev, S. J., Schilling, G., Li, S. H., Li, X. J., Bao, J., Wagster, M. V., Kotzuk, J. A., Steiner, J. P., Lo, A. and et al. (1995). "Widespread expression of Huntington's disease gene (IT15) protein product." <u>Neuron</u> 14(5): 1065-74.
- Sherman, M. Y. and Goldberg, A. L. (2001). "Cellular defenses against unfolded proteins: a cell biologist thinks about neurodegenerative diseases." <u>Neuron</u> 29(1): 15-32.
- Shibata, M., Lu, T., Furuya, T., Degterev, A., Mizushima, N., Yoshimori, T., MacDonald, M., Yankner, B. and Yuan, J. (2006). "Regulation of intracellular accumulation of mutant Huntingtin by Beclin 1." J Biol Chem 281(20): 14474-85.
- Sipione, S., Rigamonti, D., Valenza, M., Zuccato, C., Conti, L., Pritchard, J., Kooperberg, C., Olson, J. M. and Cattaneo, E. (2002). "Early transcriptional profiles in huntingtin-inducible striatal cells by microarray analyses." <u>Hum</u> <u>Mol Genet</u> **11**(17): 1953-65.
- Slow, E. J., Graham, R. K., Osmand, A. P., Devon, R. S., Lu, G., Deng, Y., Pearson, J., Vaid, K., Bissada, N., Wetzel, R., Leavitt, B. R. and Hayden, M. R. (2005).
 "Absence of behavioral abnormalities and neurodegeneration in vivo despite widespread neuronal huntingtin inclusions." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> 102(32): 11402-7.
- Smith, R., Brundin, P. and Li, J. Y. (2005). "Synaptic dysfunction in Huntington's disease: a new perspective." <u>Cell Mol Life Sci</u> **62**(17): 1901-12.
- Snell, R. G., MacMillan, J. C., Cheadle, J. P., Fenton, I., Lazarou, L. P., Davies,
 P., MacDonald, M. E., Gusella, J. F., Harper, P. S. and Shaw, D. J. (1993).
 "Relationship between trinucleotide repeat expansion and phenotypic variation in Huntington's disease." Nat Genet 4(4): 393-7.
- Sondermann, H., Scheufler, C., Schneider, C., Hohfeld, J., Hartl, F. U. and Moarefi, I. (2001). "Structure of a Bag/Hsc70 complex: convergent functional evolution of Hsp70 nucleotide exchange factors." <u>Science</u> **291**(5508): 1553-7.
- Song, J., Takeda, M. and Morimoto, R. I. (2001). "Bag1-Hsp70 mediates a physiological stress signalling pathway that regulates Raf-1/ERK and cell growth." <u>Nat Cell Biol</u> 3(3): 276-82.
- Squitieri, F., Cannella, M., Sgarbi, G., Maglione, V., Falleni, A., Lenzi, P., Baracca, A., Cislaghi, G., Saft, C., Ragona, G., Russo, M. A., Thompson, L. M., Solaini, G. and Fornai, F. (2006). "Severe ultrastructural mitochondrial changes in

lymphoblasts homozygous for Huntington disease mutation." <u>Mech Ageing</u> <u>Dev</u> **127**(2): 217-20.

- Stark, W. S. and Thomas, C. F. (2004). "Microscopy of multiple visual receptor types in Drosophila." <u>Mol Vis</u> **10**: 943-55.
- Steffan, J. S., Bodai, L., Pallos, J., Poelman, M., McCampbell, A., Apostol, B.
 L., Kazantsev, A., Schmidt, E., Zhu, Y. Z., Greenwald, M., Kurokawa,
 R., Housman, D. E., Jackson, G. R., Marsh, J. L. and Thompson, L. M.
 (2001). "Histone deacetylase inhibitors arrest polyglutamine-dependent neurodegeneration in Drosophila." Nature **413**(6857): 739-43.
- Steffan, J. S., Agrawal, N., Pallos, J., Rockabrand, E., Trotman, L. C., Slepko, N., Illes, K., Lukacsovich, T., Zhu, Y. Z., Cattaneo, E., Pandolfi, P. P., Thompson, L. M. and Marsh, J. L. (2004). "SUMO modification of Huntingtin and Huntington's disease pathology." Science 304(5667): 100-4.
- Stenoien, D. L., Cummings, C. J., Adams, H. P., Mancini, M. G., Patel, K., DeMartino, G. N., Marcelli, M., Weigel, N. L. and Mancini, M. A. (1999).
 "Polyglutamine-expanded androgen receptors form aggregates that sequester heat shock proteins, proteasome components and SRC-1, and are suppressed by the HDJ-2 chaperone." <u>Hum Mol Genet</u> 8(5): 731-41.
- Stewart, M., Baker, R. P., Bayliss, R., Clayton, L., Grant, R. P., Littlewood, T. and Matsuura, Y. (2001). "Molecular mechanism of translocation through nuclear pore complexes during nuclear protein import." <u>FEBS Lett</u> **498**(2-3): 145-9.
- Sugars, K. L. and Rubinsztein, D. C. (2003). "Transcriptional abnormalities in Huntington disease." <u>Trends Genet</u> **19**(5): 233-8.
- Sun, Y., Savanenin, A., Reddy, P. H. and Liu, Y. F. (2001). "Polyglutamine-expanded huntingtin promotes sensitization of N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors via postsynaptic density 95." <u>J Biol Chem</u> 276(27): 24713-8.
- Szebenyi, G., Morfini, G. A., Babcock, A., Gould, M., Selkoe, K., Stenoien, D. L., Young, M., Faber, P. W., MacDonald, M. E., McPhaul, M. J. and Brady, S. T. (2003). "Neuropathogenic forms of huntingtin and androgen receptor inhibit fast axonal transport." <u>Neuron</u> **40**(1): 41-52.
- Tabrizi, S. J., Cleeter, M. W., Xuereb, J., Taanman, J. W., Cooper, J. M. and Schapira, A. H. (1999). "Biochemical abnormalities and excitotoxicity in Huntington's disease brain." <u>Ann Neurol</u> **45**(1): 25-32.
- Tagawa, K., Marubuchi, S., Qi, M. L., Enokido, Y., Tamura, T., Inagaki, R., Murata, M., Kanazawa, I., Wanker, E. E. and Okazawa, H. (2007). "The induction levels of heat shock protein 70 differentiate the vulnerabilities to mutant huntingtin among neuronal subtypes." <u>J Neurosci</u> 27(4): 868-80.
- Takahashi, J., Fujigasaki, H., Iwabuchi, K., Bruni, A. C., Uchihara, T., El Hachimi, K. H., Stevanin, G., Durr, A., Lebre, A. S., Trottier, Y., de The, H., Tanaka, J., Hauw, J. J., Duyckaerts, C. and Brice, A. (2003). "PML nuclear bodies and neuronal intranuclear inclusion in polyglutamine diseases." <u>Neurobiol Dis</u> 13(3): 230-7.
- Takahashi, N., Sasaki, R., Takahashi, J., Takayama, S., Reed, J. C. and Andoh, T. (2001). "BAG-1M, an isoform of Bcl-2-interacting protein BAG-1, enhances gene expression driven by CMV promoter." <u>Biochem Biophys Res Commun</u> **286**(4): 807-14.
- Takayama, S., Bimston, D. N., Matsuzawa, S., Freeman, B. C., Aime-Sempe, C., Xie, Z., Morimoto, R. I. and Reed, J. C. (1997). "BAG-1 modulates the chaperone activity of Hsp70/Hsc70." <u>Embo J</u> 16(16): 4887-96.
- Takayama, S., Krajewski, S., Krajewska, M., Kitada, S., Zapata, J. M., Kochel, K., Knee, D., Scudiero, D., Tudor, G., Miller, G. J., Miyashita, T., Yamada, M. and Reed, J. C. (1998). "Expression and location of Hsp70/Hsc-binding anti-

apoptotic protein BAG-1 and its variants in normal tissues and tumor cell lines." <u>Cancer Res</u> **58**(14): 3116-31.

- Takayama, S., Sato, T., Krajewski, S., Kochel, K., Irie, S., Millan, J. A. and Reed, J. C. (1995). "Cloning and functional analysis of BAG-1: a novel Bcl-2-binding protein with anti-cell death activity." <u>Cell</u> 80(2): 279-84.
- Takayama, S., Xie, Z. and Reed, J. C. (1999). "An evolutionarily conserved family of Hsp70/Hsc70 molecular chaperone regulators." <u>J Biol Chem</u> **274**(2): 781-6.
- Tanaka, M., Machida, Y., Niu, S., Ikeda, T., Jana, N. R., Doi, H., Kurosawa, M., Nekooki, M. and Nukina, N. (2004). "Trehalose alleviates polyglutaminemediated pathology in a mouse model of Huntington disease." <u>Nat Med</u> **10**(2): 148-54.
- Taylor, J. P., Tanaka, F., Robitschek, J., Sandoval, C. M., Taye, A., Markovic-Plese, S. and Fischbeck, K. H. (2003). "Aggresomes protect cells by enhancing the degradation of toxic polyglutamine-containing protein." <u>Hum Mol Genet</u> 12(7): 749-57.
- Terada, K. and Mori, M. (2000). "Human DnaJ homologs dj2 and dj3, and bag-1 are positive cochaperones of hsc70." J Biol Chem **275**(32): 24728-34.
- Thomas, E. A. (2006). "Striatal specificity of gene expression dysregulation in Huntington's disease." J Neurosci Res **84**(6): 1151-64.
- Townsend, P. A., Cutress, R. I., Carroll, C. J., Lawrence, K. M., Scarabelli, T. M., Packham, G., Stephanou, A. and Latchman, D. S. (2004). "BAG-1 proteins protect cardiac myocytes from simulated ischemia/reperfusion-induced apoptosis via an alternate mechanism of cell survival independent of the proteasome." J Biol Chem 279(20): 20723-8.
- Townsend, P. A., Cutress, R. I., Sharp, A., Brimmell, M. and Packham, G. (2003).
 "BAG-1 prevents stress-induced long-term growth inhibition in breast cancer cells via a chaperone-dependent pathway." <u>Cancer Res</u> 63(14): 4150-7.
- Trettel, F., Rigamonti, D., Hilditch-Maguire, P., Wheeler, V. C., Sharp, A. H., Persichetti, F., Cattaneo, E. and MacDonald, M. E. (2000). "Dominant phenotypes produced by the HD mutation in STHdh(Q111) striatal cells." <u>Hum Mol Genet</u> **9**(19): 2799-809.
- Trottier, Y., Devys, D., Imbert, G., Saudou, F., An, I., Lutz, Y., Weber, C., Agid, Y., Hirsch, E. C. and Mandel, J. L. (1995). "Cellular localization of the Huntington's disease protein and discrimination of the normal and mutated form." <u>Nat Genet</u> **10**(1): 104-10.
- Truant, R., Atwal, R. S. and Burtnik, A. (2007). "Nucleocytoplasmic trafficking and transcription effects of huntingtin in Huntington's disease." <u>Prog Neurobiol</u> **83**(4): 211-27.
- Van Raamsdonk, J. M., Pearson, J., Rogers, D. A., Bissada, N., Vogl, A. W., Hayden, M. R. and Leavitt, B. R. (2005). "Loss of wild-type huntingtin influences motor dysfunction and survival in the YAC128 mouse model of Huntington disease." <u>Hum Mol Genet</u> 14(10): 1379-92.
- Varma, H., Cheng, R., Voisine, C., Hart, A. C. and Stockwell, B. R. (2007). "Inhibitors of metabolism rescue cell death in Huntington's disease models." <u>Proc Natl</u> <u>Acad Sci U S A</u> **104**(36): 14525-30.
- Venkatraman, P., Wetzel, R., Tanaka, M., Nukina, N. and Goldberg, A. L. (2004). "Eukaryotic proteasomes cannot digest polyglutamine sequences and release them during degradation of polyglutamine-containing proteins." <u>Mol</u> <u>Cell</u> **14**(1): 95-104.
- Verhoef, L. G., Lindsten, K., Masucci, M. G. and Dantuma, N. P. (2002). "Aggregate formation inhibits proteasomal degradation of polyglutamine proteins." <u>Hum</u> <u>Mol Genet</u> **11**(22): 2689-700.

- Vonsattel, J. P., Myers, R. H., Stevens, T. J., Ferrante, R. J., Bird, E. D. and Richardson, E. P., Jr. (1985). "Neuropathological classification of Huntington's disease." J Neuropathol Exp Neurol **44**(6): 559-77.
- Wacker, J. L., Zareie, M. H., Fong, H., Sarikaya, M. and Muchowski, P. J. (2004). "Hsp70 and Hsp40 attenuate formation of spherical and annular polyglutamine oligomers by partitioning monomer." <u>Nat Struct Mol Biol</u> **11**(12): 1215-22.
- Waelter, S., Boeddrich, A., Lurz, R., Scherzinger, E., Lueder, G., Lehrach, H. and Wanker, E. E. (2001). "Accumulation of mutant huntingtin fragments in aggresome-like inclusion bodies as a result of insufficient protein degradation." <u>Mol Biol Cell</u> **12**(5): 1393-407.
- Wang, H. G., Takayama, S., Rapp, U. R. and Reed, J. C. (1996). "Bcl-2 interacting protein, BAG-1, binds to and activates the kinase Raf-1." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci</u> <u>U S A</u> **93**(14): 7063-8.
- Wanker, E. E., Scherzinger, E., Heiser, V., Sittler, A., Eickhoff, H. and Lehrach, H. (1999). "Membrane filter assay for detection of amyloid-like polyglutaminecontaining protein aggregates." <u>Methods Enzymol</u> **309**: 375-86.
- Warby, S. C., Chan, E. Y., Metzler, M., Gan, L., Singaraja, R. R., Crocker, S. F., Robertson, H. A. and Hayden, M. R. (2005). "Huntingtin phosphorylation on serine 421 is significantly reduced in the striatum and by polyglutamine expansion in vivo." <u>Hum Mol Genet</u> 14(11): 1569-77.
- Warrick, J. M., Chan, H. Y., Gray-Board, G. L., Chai, Y., Paulson, H. L. and Bonini, N. M. (1999). "Suppression of polyglutamine-mediated neurodegeneration in Drosophila by the molecular chaperone HSP70." <u>Nat Genet</u> 23(4): 425-8.
- Wegele, H., Muller, L. and Buchner, J. (2004). "Hsp70 and Hsp90--a relay team for protein folding." <u>Rev Physiol Biochem Pharmacol</u> **151**: 1-44.
- Wheeler, V. C., White, J. K., Gutekunst, C. A., Vrbanac, V., Weaver, M., Li, X. J., Li, S. H., Yi, H., Vonsattel, J. P., Gusella, J. F., Hersch, S., Auerbach, W., Joyner, A. L. and MacDonald, M. E. (2000). "Long glutamine tracts cause nuclear localization of a novel form of huntingtin in medium spiny striatal neurons in HdhQ92 and HdhQ111 knock-in mice." <u>Hum Mol Genet</u> 9(4): 503-13.
- White, J. K., Auerbach, W., Duyao, M. P., Vonsattel, J. P., Gusella, J. F., Joyner, A. L. and MacDonald, M. E. (1997). "Huntingtin is required for neurogenesis and is not impaired by the Huntington's disease CAG expansion." <u>Nat Genet</u> **17**(4): 404-10.
- Willingham, S., Outeiro, T. F., DeVit, M. J., Lindquist, S. L. and Muchowski, P. J. (2003). "Yeast genes that enhance the toxicity of a mutant huntingtin fragment or alpha-synuclein." <u>Science</u> **302**(5651): 1769-72.
- Wyttenbach, A., Carmichael, J., Swartz, J., Furlong, R. A., Narain, Y., Rankin, J. and Rubinsztein, D. C. (2000). "Effects of heat shock, heat shock protein 40 (HDJ-2), and proteasome inhibition on protein aggregation in cellular models of Huntington's disease." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> **97**(6): 2898-903.
- Wyttenbach, A., Sauvageot, O., Carmichael, J., Diaz-Latoud, C., Arrigo, A. P. and Rubinsztein, D. C. (2002). "Heat shock protein 27 prevents cellular polyglutamine toxicity and suppresses the increase of reactive oxygen species caused by huntingtin." <u>Hum Mol Genet</u> **11**(9): 1137-51.
- Wyttenbach, A., Swartz, J., Kita, H., Thykjaer, T., Carmichael, J., Bradley, J., Brown, R., Maxwell, M., Schapira, A., Orntoft, T. F., Kato, K. and Rubinsztein, D. C. (2001). "Polyglutamine expansions cause decreased CRE-mediated transcription and early gene expression changes prior to cell death in an inducible cell model of Huntington's disease." <u>Hum Mol</u> <u>Genet</u> 10(17): 1829-45.

- Xia, J., Lee, D. H., Taylor, J., Vandelft, M. and Truant, R. (2003). "Huntingtin contains a highly conserved nuclear export signal." <u>Hum Mol Genet</u> **12**(12): 1393-403.
- Yamamoto, A., Lucas, J. J. and Hen, R. (2000). "Reversal of neuropathology and motor dysfunction in a conditional model of Huntington's disease." <u>Cell</u> **101**(1): 57-66.
- Yang, H., Zhong, X., Ballar, P., Luo, S., Shen, Y., Rubinsztein, D. C., Monteiro, M. J. and Fang, S. (2007). "Ubiquitin ligase Hrd1 enhances the degradation and suppresses the toxicity of polyglutamine-expanded huntingtin." <u>Exp Cell Res</u> **313**(3): 538-50.
- Yang, X., Chernenko, G., Hao, Y., Ding, Z., Pater, M. M., Pater, A. and Tang, S. C. (1998). "Human BAG-1/RAP46 protein is generated as four isoforms by alternative translation initiation and overexpressed in cancer cells." <u>Oncogene</u> **17**(8): 981-9.
- Zamzami, N. and Kroemer, G. (2001). "The mitochondrion in apoptosis: how Pandora's box opens." <u>Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol</u> **2**(1): 67-71.
- Zeiner, M., Gebauer, M. and Gehring, U. (1997). "Mammalian protein RAP46: an interaction partner and modulator of 70 kDa heat shock proteins." <u>Embo J</u> **16**(18): 5483-90.
- Zeiner, M., Niyaz, Y. and Gehring, U. (1999). "The hsp70-associating protein Hap46 binds to DNA and stimulates transcription." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> **96**(18): 10194-9.
- Zhai, W., Jeong, H., Cui, L., Krainc, D. and Tjian, R. (2005). "In vitro analysis of huntingtin-mediated transcriptional repression reveals multiple transcription factor targets." <u>Cell</u> **123**(7): 1241-53.
- Zhang, Y., Li, M., Drozda, M., Chen, M., Ren, S., Mejia Sanchez, R. O., Leavitt, B. R., Cattaneo, E., Ferrante, R. J., Hayden, M. R. and Friedlander, R. M. (2003). "Depletion of wild-type huntingtin in mouse models of neurologic diseases." <u>J Neurochem</u> 87(1): 101-6.
- Zhou, H., Li, S. H. and Li, X. J. (2001). "Chaperone suppression of cellular toxicity of huntingtin is independent of polyglutamine aggregation." <u>J Biol Chem</u> 276(51): 48417-24.
- Zourlidou, A., Gidalevitz, T., Kristiansen, M., Landles, C., Woodman, B., Wells, D. J., Latchman, D. S., de Belleroche, J., Tabrizi, S. J., Morimoto, R. I. and Bates, G. P. (2007). "Hsp27 overexpression in the R6/2 mouse model of Huntington's disease: chronic neurodegeneration does not induce Hsp27 activation." <u>Hum Mol Genet</u> **16**(9): 1078-90.
- Zuccato, C., Belyaev, N., Conforti, P., Ooi, L., Tartari, M., Papadimou, E., MacDonald, M., Fossale, E., Zeitlin, S., Buckley, N. and Cattaneo, E. (2007).
 "Widespread disruption of repressor element-1 silencing transcription factor/neuron-restrictive silencer factor occupancy at its target genes in Huntington's disease." J Neurosci 27(26): 6972-83.
- Zuccato, C., Ciammola, A., Rigamonti, D., Leavitt, B. R., Goffredo, D., Conti, L., MacDonald, M. E., Friedlander, R. M., Silani, V., Hayden, M. R., Timmusk, T., Sipione, S. and Cattaneo, E. (2001). "Loss of huntingtin-mediated BDNF gene transcription in Huntington's disease." <u>Science</u> 293(5529): 493-8.
- Zuccato, C., Tartari, M., Crotti, A., Goffredo, D., Valenza, M., Conti, L., Cataudella, T., Leavitt, B. R., Hayden, M. R., Timmusk, T., Rigamonti, D. and Cattaneo, E. (2003). "Huntingtin interacts with REST/NRSF to modulate the transcription of NRSE-controlled neuronal genes." <u>Nat Genet</u> 35(1): 76-83.

9. CURRICULUM VITAE

Personal details:

Name: Kamila Sroka Nationality: Polish Date and place of birth: 14.10.1981 in Lublin, Poland

Education:

November 2004- March 2008	PhD candidate in the Neurobiological Research Laboratory, University Hospital Göttingen, Germany
October 2003- September 2004	International Max Planck Research School for Neurosciences, Göttingen, Germany
October 2000- June 2003	B.Sc. in Biotechnology Jagiellonian University, Krakow, Poland
Scholarships:	
2004- 2007	Neuroscience Early Stage Research Training (NEUREST) Marie Curie Actions Fellowship
2003-2004	International Max Planck Research School Stipend
Scientific courses:	
6 December 2005	Scientific Publishing, Max Planck Institute for Biophysical Chemistry, Göttingen, Germany
21-22 August 2006	Working with protein structures. Computer-based data analysis, University of Göttingen, Germany
18-19 June 2007	Posttranslational modification with ubiquitin-related protein SUMO, University of Göttingen, Germany

14-15 August 2007	Protein-protein interactions in membrane traffic Max Planck Institute for Biophysical Chemistry, Göttingen, Germany
3-14 September 2007	The ubiquitin-proteasome system in health and disease RUBICON Graduate Course, Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm, Sweden
<u>Conferences</u>	
12-14 November 2004	International PhD Student Symposium Neurizons Göttingen, Germany
7-10 May 2005	II Meeting on the Molecular Mechanisms of Neurodegeneration Milano, Italy
27-28 May 2005	Parkinson's disease and other neurodegenerative disorders: from genes to molecular mechanisms and therapy Göttingen, Germany
9-12 February 2006	NeuroNE First Annual Meeting London, UK
25-30 June 2006	The 18th Meeting of Nobel Laureates in Chemistry Lindau, Germany
14-18 October 2006	Sfn Neuroscience 2006 Conference Poster contribution Atlanta, USA
29 March-1 April 2007	7th Meeting of the German Neuroscience Society, 31st Göttingen Neurobiology Conference Poster contribution Göttingen, Germany
31 May-2 June 2007	International PhD Student Symposium Neurizons 2007

Miscellaneous:

Member of the organization committee of Neurizons 2007 conference

10. PUBLICATIONS

Sroka, K., Voigt, A., Deeg, S., Reed, J.C., Schulz, J.B., Bähr, M., Kermer, P. "Huntingtin toxicity is ameliorated by BAG1 through modulation of its aggregation, degradation and subcellular distribution." submitted

Ganesan, S., Rohde, G., Eckermann, K., **Sroka, K.**, Schaefer, M.K.E., Dohm, C.P., Kermer, P., Haase, G., Wouters, F., Bähr, M. and Weishaupt, J.H. (2008)

"Mutant SOD1 detoxification mechanisms in intact single cells." <u>Cell Death</u> <u>Differ.</u> 2008 Feb;15(2):312-21

Speier, S., Yang, S.B., **Sroka, K.**, Rose, T., Rupnik, M. (2005) "KATP-channels in beta-cells in tissue slices are directly modulated by millimolar ATP." <u>Mol Cell Endocrinol.</u> 2005 Jan 31;230(1-2):51-8.